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Dear Shareholders,
In 2019, our solid digital transformation strategy 
remained a strong backbone of our business. Our 
constant efforts in developing and upgrading the 
network infrastructure have had positive impact on 
the operations across all levels; despite the persistence 
of a strong competitive environment in the telecom 
industry – one which is perfectly described as - the 
most competitive market, not only in the region, but 
worldwide. 
In 2019, we leveraged our strong digital capabilities 
to deliver unparalleled user experiences to our 
customers as we deployed the infrastructure for the 
next generation of connectivity. 
Ooredoo Kuwait (NMTC) reported a steady set of 
results with net profit for the year increasing by 1% to 
KWD 30 million and EBITDA increasing 7% to KWD 233 
million. Our financial performance is testament to our 
continued investment into the implementation of our 
digital transformation strategy.
Strong revenue performances in the Maldives and 
Tunisia, in local currency terms, were offset by 
intense price competition in Kuwait and challenging 
macroeconomic environments in Algeria and Tunisia, 
where the local currency depreciated 2% and 10% 
respectively, against the Kuwaiti Dinar. Consequently, 
NMTC reported revenues of KWD 634 million in 2019 
compared to KWD 665 million in the previous year. 
Our consolidated customer base at the end of 2019 
was a healthy 26 million, as we focused on serving the 
needs of an increasingly sophisticated and digitally 
savvy user base with the launch of a number of new 
services that simplified our user experience while 
providing a greater degree of flexibility and control. 
Our performance in Algeria continue to be impacted 
by challenging economic conditions, intense price 
competition and currency depreciation. 

A Message from the Chairman

Kuwait
In Kuwait, the implementation of our digital 
transformation agenda, harnessing the latest 
technologies to drive efficiency as well as the 
positive impact from the implementation of IFRS 16 
contributed to a 32% increase in EBITDA. 
Ooredoo,s customer base in Kuwait increased to 2.6 
million in 2019, up by 12% compared to 2018. Revenues 
for 2019 were KWD 231.3 million, a decrease of 4% 
compared to KWD 240.9 million in 2018. EBITDA was 
strong, increasing 32% to KWD 72.4 million in 2019, 
compared to KWD 55.0 million in 2018. The increase of 
32% reflected good operational efficiencies across the 
business as well as a positive impact of the new IFRS 
16 accounting standard. 

Tunisia
In Tunisia, revenues increased 7% in local currency 
terms, as the company intensified its focus on 
increasing smartphone penetration and driving data 
usage.   
Ooredoo’s customer base in Tunisia increased by 1% 
to reach 9.2 million customers in 2019, compared to 
the previous year. The Tunisian Dinar depreciated by 
10% year on year, leading to a decrease in revenues 
from KWD 126.6 million in 2018 to KWD 123.1 million 
in 2019. In local currency terms, revenues were up by 
6.8%. EBITDA was KWD 56.9 million in 2019 compared 
to KWD 49.3 million in 2018. 

Algeria
Business in Algeria was negatively impacted by the 
devaluation of the Algerian Dinar, intense price 
competition and a weak economic environment. 
Customer base declined by 9% to 12.6 million in 2019, 
compared to 2018. Revenues also decreased to KWD 
208.7 million in 2019, compared to KWD 228.9 million 
in the previous year. EBITDA was KWD 72.4 million in 
2019, down from KWD 85.3 million in 2018. Algerian 
Dinar depreciated by 2% year on year.
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Palestine
In Palestine we continued to grow our user base, 
which was up 3% to 1.3 million and focus on cost 
optimization, resulting in a 13% increase in EBITDA to 
KWD 9.0 million. 
Ooredoo Palestine customer numbers increased 
by 3% to 1.3 million comparing to previous year. 
Revenue slightly decreased to KWD 30.2 million, 
compared to KWD 30.3 million in 2018. EBITDA 
was strong, increasing 13% to KWD 9.0 million in 
2019 compared to KD 8.0 million in 2018, driven by 
operational efficiencies across the business and the 
implementation of IFRS 16.

Maldives
In the Maldives we reported strong results across the 
board, with EBITDA increasing 12% to KWD 22 million, 
supported by a 5% increase in revenues to KWD 40 
million.  
Ooredoo Maldives reported a 5% increase in revenues 
to KWD 40.2 million in 2019, compared to KWD 38.2 
million in 2018. EBITDA was increased to KWD 22.1 
million in 2019, an increase of 12% compared to KWD 
19.7 million in 2018. Ooredoo Maldives now serves a 
total of 405k customers. 
Post period Ooredoo Maldives was issued a 15 year 
telecommunications license, encompassing mobile, 
fixed and internet services starting as of Feb 1, 2020.

2020... Successful Journey Together!
In 2020, we are determined - at Ooredoo Kuwait 
Group - to intensify our efforts and continue the 
digital transformation journey we have started. We 
are - committed more than ever - to enriching our 
customers

,
 digital lives, providing them with the best 

products and offering innovative solutions in the ICT 
sector. We will continue investing in the infrastructure 
Network in all the countries in which we operate.
As we look forward towards more success, we remain 
extremely grateful to all of you, our shareholders, 
for your valued trust. We also extend our thanks and 
appreciation to our loyal customers, and we promise 
to deliver the best for years to come.

Sheikh Saud bin Nasser Al Thani



10

Dear Shareholders,
There is no doubt that great companies are defined 
by how they respond in challenging times, and there 
is no doubt, that Ooredoo Kuwait has proven its 
most effective performance in times of enormous 
challenges and unforeseen change.
In 2019, not only has Ooredoo Kuwait continued 
to lead the digital transformation journey but has 
successfully empowered Kuwait’s society by driving 
digital transformation and enriching people’s digital 
lives. 

Market Share
Ooredoo Kuwait’s customer market share reached 
35% while the revenue market share came to a 
total of 26.9% in 2019. Our customer base in Kuwait 
increased to 2.6 million in 2019, grown by 12% 
compared to 2018. 

First to 5G 
In line with our strategy to offer a differentiated 
customer experience, Ooredoo Kuwait has 
successfully launched 5G commercially in Q2/2019 in 
Kuwait. Since then, we have increased our 5G footprint 
by offering significantly higher data speeds and 
improved capacity with 5G. Transmission Technology 
was also implemented in 2019 to support the 5G 
network and will be expanded in 2020/2021 along 
with the sustained growth of Ooredoo’s 5G Network 
in Kuwait. 

Successful Digital Revolutions
Ooredoo became the first operator to provide 
personalized mobile plans with ANA to enrich 
customers’ digital lives.
Ooredoo launched the first of its kind digital plan 
in Kuwait to offer a full end-to-end digital customer 
model through “ANA” that allows customers to pick 
their numbers, customize their plans according to the 
amount of data or minutes they prefer and order a 
SIM card to be delivered to their doorstep.  
“ANA” won the ‘Best Digital Service’ during the 
Telecoms World Middle East Awards in 2019. 
Ooredoo Kuwait continued to embrace the digital 
way of life by introducing Digital Service Subscriptions 
via MyOoredoo App – ranked among top 5 most 
downloaded Apps in Kuwait - by offering a variety 
of 70+ services to the local market serving diverse 
communities; all residents of Kuwait.

Additionally, customers’ scoring of the channel and 
service levels increased by 35% compared to previous 
non-digitalization working models.
Our continued focus on improving customer 
satisfaction to drive loyalty has led to the execution 
of customer experience improvement initiatives in 
2019 leading to an overall uplift in the company’s 
customers satisfaction score across channels and 
contributed towards the 12% growth in the customer 
base achieved during the year.

Enabling Youth 
Ooredoo Kuwait has long seen the value of youth 
and young entrepreneurs as part of the business 
strategy towards the society. We have backed the best 
in sports, woman empowerment, supported at youth 
and culture, and we remain committed to supporting 
initiatives in the communities where we operate.
We have selected a number of youth champions in the 
field of sports in Kuwait to be the "Brand Ambassadors" 
for Ooredoo Kuwait in 2019 onwards until 2022. Those 
brand ambassadors will always translate our brand 
values into the best ethics and standards with honor, 
locally and internationally. Those ambassadors are: 
Najla Al-Jeraiwi: a Kuwaiti Triathlon Champion, Rakan 
Al-Hasawi: a Kuwaiti showjumper, Abdulaziz Al-Rashed: 
a Kuwaiti Triathlon Champion, Sarah Al Hasawi: a soccer 
player in the Kuwait Club Football and a Women Rights’ 
activist.
We have continued with our award winning program 
“Ooredoo Volunteers Program” - OVP. The 5 year 
old program has been incubating and nurturing the 
Kuwaiti Youth since 2015. This program witnessed 
the participation of 1500 volunteers from both male 
and female youth. Among the successful projects 
and developed policies, the OVP established by 
Ooredoo Kuwait has been enabling young people to 
volunteer through online registration and attending 
comprehensive training workshops in the field - 
whereby 80% of all those volunteers in 2019 were 
between the age of 15 and 27.

A Message from the CEO
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Dear shareholders,
I am proud to say, that in 2019, Ooredoo has fulfilled 
its mission in becoming the leading integrated 
communications provider in Kuwait catering to all our 
customers’ needs. 2020 will be another challenging 
and promising year. Ooredoo will leverage on a 
smart investment strategy to a complele 5G  roll 
out. We will provide a re-defined and innovative 
digital experience. We will deliver value propositions 
with an enriched portfolio of products and services. 
Ooredoo will aspire to maximize shareholder value 
through business growth, revenue diversification and 
efficiency.
I would like to take the opportunity to express my 
deepest thanks to our shareholders, our management 
team, our loyal customers, our staff, and to our 
business associates for their commitment and 
contribution to Ooredoo in the past year, to which 
Ooredoo,s continued growth would not have been 
possible. 
Ooredoo Kuwait will continue to achieve positive 
results and drive its operations to further grow in 
2020. We will continue our focus to become the 
leading digital lifestyle provider in Kuwait.

Sheikh Mohammed bin Abdullah Al Thani
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Net Profit to Ooredoo Kuwait
(KWD million)

Proportional Subscribers
(In million)

* In  Q1 2011, a fair value gain (non-cash) of KD 265.3 million was recorded due to a revaluation of the existing 
held interest in Ooredoo Tunisia (Previously Tunisiana) following the increase in the shareholding from 50% 
to 75%.												          
	

EBITDA
(KWD million)

Revenue
(KWD million)

Financial Highlights
For the year ended December 31, 2019
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                                                                                             Year 2019 (in millions)                          Year 2018 (in millions)

Ooredoo
KUWAIT

Total Subscribers  2.6  2.3 

Revenue  231.3  240.9 

EBITDA  72.4  55.0 

% EBITDA 31% 23%

Net Profit to OK  13.3  13.0 

Ooredoo
TUNISIA

Total Subscribers  9.2  9.1 

Revenue  123.1  126.6 

EBITDA  56.9  49.3 

% EBITDA 46% 39%

Net Profit to OK  9.2  5.2 

Ooredoo
ALGERIA

Total Subscribers  12.6  13.9 

Revenue  208.7  228.9 

EBITDA  72.4  85.3 

% EBITDA 35% 37%

Net Profit to OK  2.9  8.5 

Ooredoo
MALDIVES

Total Subscribers  0.4  0.4 

Revenue  40.2  38.2 

EBITDA  22.1  19.7 

% EBITDA 55% 52%

Net Profit to OK  10.6  9.5 

Ooredoo
PALESTINE

Total Subscribers  1.3  1.3 

Revenue  30.2  30.3 

EBITDA  9.1  8.0 

% EBITDA 30% 26%

Net Profit to OK  0.2  0.0 

Ooredoo
Consolidated

Total Subscribers  26.1  27.0 

Revenue  633.5  665.0 

EBITDA  232.7  217.1 

% EBITDA 37% 33%

Net Profit to OK  30.1  29.7 





Ooredoo
Kuwait
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Ooredoo
Kuwait

In 2019, Ooredoo Kuwait refreshed the 3 year 
strategy in line with its vision and mission.  

3 Year Strategy

2019 2020 2021

We aim to deliver our strategy through five 
strategic priorities:

VISION
 To empower Kuwait’s society by driving
 digital transformation and enrich people’s
digital lives

MISSION
 To become the leading integrated
 communications provider in Kuwait
catering to all our customers’ needs

Grow & retain B2C base with focus on 
target segments

Capitalize on the B2B growth potential

Accelerate Digital Transformation

Enable execution through a lean model

Instill a performance-based culture

1

2

3

4

5

Narrow and deep focus on target segments 
Improve in-store experience and optimize our 
retail and distribution
Offer differentiated customer experience across 
all channels and touch points
Leverage on CVM capabilities to deliver a 
personalized experience

Develop simplified and converged product portfolio
Uplift B2B service
Focus on ICT and partnerships as a driver for growth

Continuously improve our customer engagement 
through digital
Streamline internal and external processes and 
focus on automations
Renewed focus on digital products and services

Pursuing operational excellence to control costs and 
optimize operative model

Build performance culture and train employees in 
Digital & Agile
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Those five priorities ensure that we deliver value 
to our shareholders with enhanced business 
performance.

Ooredoo has been leading the market by launching 
various innovative digital services in Kuwait during 
the year of 2019. 

Ooredoo Kuwait created a unique position in the 
industry and became the pioneer in delivering 
game-changing solutions that created growth and 
value for customers as well as tangible benefits to 
the society.

In January 2019, the first trial International 

5G call in the region was successfully made 
between Ooredoo Kuwait and Ooredoo in Qatar, 
demonstrating the phenomenal capabilities of 
Ooredoo’s 5G networks in Kuwait and Qatar.

Few months later, and in June 2019, Ooredoo 
Kuwait was the first to launch 5G commercially in 
the country, offering customers superfast Internet 
and incredible download speeds; taking the 
network experience to incomparable new heights.

The 5G commercial launch exemplifies Ooredoo’s 
core values of Caring, Connecting, and 
Challenging while demonstrating the company’s 
commitment to enrich people’s digital lives. 
5G successful unveiling falls within the scope 
of Ooredoo’s strategy in accelerating digital 
transformation and evolving digital capabilities.

•   5G Breakthroughs: 

1.   �With the increase complexity and advancement 
of Mobile networks, Ooredoo has launched “Self-
Organized-Network” at the beginning of the year 
to automate the management of mobile network. 
This automation ensured that we continue to 
improve network reliability and robustness which 
will result in superior customer experience.

2.   �Continuing on its commitment to lead on 
new technologies, Ooredoo has launched 
its 5G network during mid of 2019 covering 

majority of residential areas. This comes after 
completing the first 5G trial in Kuwait on June 
2018, followed by the first international 5G call 
in the Arab world in February 2019. Ooredoo 
will continue to extend its 5G network to cover 
all Kuwait.

3.   �Modernization the Network Transmission 
Infrastructure through major Fiber deployment 
completed in 2019 to cover above 50% of our 
Network & will continue the rollout in 2020 to 
reach 75% by end of 2020. In addition to that, 
New Transmission Technology implemented 
in 2019 to support the 5G network and will 
be expanded in 2020/2021 along with the 
anticipated growth of 5G Network. 

Ooredoo launched the first end to end Digital 
Product in Kuwait named “ANA”. “ANA” is a 
completely customizable mobile plan, where 
customers had the freedom to choose a number, 
customize and change the plan to match their 
needs, freely capable to pay and renew with 
just few clicks. “ANA” allowed unlimited roaming 
to preferred destination, adding booster packs 
for social media. Customers got the chance 
to purchase a new SIM with the latest devices 
delivered to their door steps. They were also 
rewarded with points from Ooredoo Loyalty 
program “Nojoom”; the first of its kind in Kuwait. 
“ANA” helped customers transform their phone 
into a customer wallet, managing all accounts in 
one place and purchasing an “e-SIM” card with a 
simple scan. 

As the industry evolves and customers become 
more sophisticated, the ability to deliver seamless 
digital interactions has become the new frontier 
for customer acquisition and retention in the 
telecoms sector. In this context, Ooredoo Kuwait 
celebrated the launch of “ANA” in 2019 to be 
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best described as “The Most Innovative Ground-
Breaking Digital Mobile Experience” that allowed 
customers to create plans tailored to their 
individual preferences. “ANA” was remarkably 
recognized at the Telecoms World Middle East 
Awards 2019 as the “Best Digital Service”.

MyOoredoo App & e-Shop:

As the world becomes increasingly connected, 
customers demand the latest digital services. 
Cognizant of the immense competitive advantage, 
Ooredoo Kuwait revamped its digital infrastructure 
to enable the instant promotion of new products 
and services throughout the company’s self-care 
channels. MyOoredoo App has been downloaded 
more than a million times on smart phones and 
made it to the top 10 most popular free app list. 
The monthly active users of MyOoredoo App have 
increased by 38% in 2019 compared to 2018. 

The reception to Ooredoo Kuwait’s digital 
initiatives and digitalization of traditional channels 
– designed to support Ooredoo’s ongoing digital 
transformation journey by increasing its digital 
footprint - has been extremely positive, captured 
by the rapid growth in the usage of company’s 
digital channels. Digital Collections (Bill Payment 
& Recharges) have increased by 20% comparing 
to 2018. More than 700,000 of Ooredoo Kuwait’s 
customers used the company’s digital self-care 
channels, while the use of e-payments increased 
significantly as well. Sales on Digital Channels 
have increased by 80% in 2019 compared to 2018. 
Ooredoo Kuwait’s digital transformation efforts 
through its “ANA” plan and the e-Shop has resulted 
in a 32% jump in digital customer care interactions 
when it used to be almost zero percent in the past.

Ooredoo Business:

In 2019, Ooredoo Kuwait dominated the market 
with state-of-the-art value propositions; offering a 
superior customer experience to B2B customers.  
As part of its ongoing digital transformation 
journey, Ooredoo Kuwait organized the ‘Business 
2 Digital’ conference - attended by prominent 
guests from leading IoT/ICT companies - for the 
second consecutive year. During the conference, 
held in Nov 2019, Ooredoo signed a number of 
agreements with international companies such as 
“Fortinet” and “CISCO”.

The company extended its enterprise capabilities 
by adding software-defined networking in a wide 
area network (SD-WAN) which provides enterprise 
customers with a more agile and simplified model 
for managing their wide-area network and enables 
them to centrally monitor and manage their 
network infrastructure. The launch forms part 
of Ooredoo Kuwait’s wider strategy to develop a 
simplified and convergent portfolio of products 
that meets the requirements of the nation’s 
business sector and supports the country’s digital 
transformation agenda. New partners were also 
on-boarded to support entry into new lines of 
business, expanding opportunities. 

Efforts continued to position Ooredoo Kuwait 
Business as a major ICT player in the market, with 
new and unique solutions and a state-of-the-art 
Data Centre system.

Financial Growth:

Ooredoo’s customer base in Kuwait increased to 
2.6 million in 2019, up by 12% compared to 2018. 
Ooredoo Kuwait’s Customer Market Share scored 
35.7% in 2019 while its Revenue Market Share 
reached up to 25.9%. Revenues for 2019 were 
KWD 231.3 million, a decrease of 4% compared 
to KWD 240.9 million in 2018. EBITDA was strong, 
increasing 32% to KWD 72.4 million in 2019, 
compared to KWD 55.0 million in 2018. The increase 
of 32% reflected good operational efficiencies 
across the business as well as a positive impact of 
the new IFRS 16 accounting standard. 
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Socially Responsible: 

Ooredoo Kuwait has long seen the value of youth 
and young entrepreneurs as part of our business 
strategy towards the society. We have backed the 
best in sports, Woman empowerment, support 
the youth and culture, and we remain committed 
to supporting initiatives in the communities where 
we operate. We have selected number of youth 
champions in the field of sports in Kuwait to be the 
brand Ambassadors for Ooredoo Kuwait in 2019 
onwards until 2022. Those brand ambassadors 
will always translate our brand values into the 
best ethics and standards with honor, locally and 
internationally. Those ambassadors are: 

•  Najla Al-Jeraiwi: Triathlon Champion

•  Rakan Al-Hasawi: showjumper

•  Abdulaziz Al-Rashed: Triathlon Champion

•  �Sarah Al-Hasawi: Soccer player in the Kuwait 
Club Football and a Women Rights’ activist. 

We have continued with our Award winning 
Program “Ooredoo Volunteers Program” OVP. 
The 5 years old program have been incubating 
and nurturing the Kuwaiti Youth since 2015. This 
program witnessed the participation of 1500 
volunteers from both males and females youths. 
Among the successful projects, the OVP has been 
enabling young people to volunteer through 
online registration and attending comprehensive 
training workshops in the field - whereby 80% of 
all those volunteers in 2019 were between the 
ages of 15 and 27.

2019 Rewards:

•   �In October 2019, “ANA” – Ooredoo Kuwait’s first 
digital plan- was recognized at the Telecoms 
World Middle East Awards 2019 for the ‘Best 
Digital Service’ of 2019. 

•   �Ooredoo Volunteers Program- OVP was 
recognized as the ‘Best Voluntary Initiative in 
2019’ for the fourth consecutive year during 
the Youth Initiative Forum in November 2019. 

•   �In December 2019, Ooredoo Kuwait won two 
awards during the 7th Creative Advertising 
Awards Event. Ooredoo Kuwait’s Senior 
Director of Corporate Communications, Mijbil 
Al-Ayoub was recognized as the “Best Public 
Relations Personality of the Year”. Ooredoo 
Kuwait also won the “Best National Day TVC” 
award during the event which was performed 
by singer Essa Almarzouq. The event witnessed 
the participation of more than 200 TVCs from 
Kuwait, the GCC, and the Arab World.

The Future… is Digital

Ooredoo Kuwait’s bold moves, while facing a 
number of challenges in 2019, paved the way to exit 
the year with healthy profitability and optimism 
about 2020 and beyond. We are focused on 
fulfilling our strategic vision of transforming into 
a fully integrated and innovative digital lifestyle 
provider and exceeding customers’ expectations 
in all aspects of the business. 

Ooredoo Kuwait has been and will continue 
to be a main contributor to Kuwait’s National 
Development Plan that stems from His Highness 
the Amir Sheikh Sabah Al Ahmad Al Jaber Al Sabah’s 
conceptualized vision of a “New Kuwait” by 2035.  

Looking ahead, with mature 4G+ and 5G 
networks, Ooredoo Kuwait is ready for IoT 
and Communication-enabled ICT advanced 
applications, which will bring about innovative 
solutions to all major industries in the country.  





Ooredoo
in the Region
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During 2019 Ooredoo Tunisia reinforced its position 
as the country’s leading telecommunications operator 
by providing the best network experience and best 
customer service. As a result, Ooredoo Tunisia captured 
more than 43% of the overall market share and more 
than 66% of the 4G market share in Tunisia, cementing 
its position as a digital enabler.  

In line with its digital transformation strategy, Ooredoo 
Tunisia invested heavily to enhance digital consumer 
touchpoints. The company streamlined the process 
of product discovery, leveraging social media, and 
simplified the process of product activation, allowing its 
users to purchase their SIM cards online. In recognition 
of its efforts, Ooredoo Tunisia was awarded the 
“Customer Service of the Year 2020” distinction at the 
ESCADA awards ceremony held in October 2019. 

The company’s growth in the consumer space was 
supported by the launch of several products and 
services. Ooredoo Tunisia increased smartphone 
penetration among customers by offering accessible 
smartphone packages at attractive prices. The company 
further democratized data use through exclusive and 
convergent options such as upselling campaign calls 
targeting voice and data. Ooredoo Tunisia launched 
‘My Ooredoo Connection Reward’ to build loyalty by 
offering a multitude of offers and promotions to its 
customers. 

In 2019, Ooredoo Tunisia further expanded its 
B2B business which is a high growth area for the 
company. By offering bespoke solutions that cater to 
the specific needs of its enterprise clients, Ooredoo 
Tunisia carved out a niche for its services in the market. 
Ooredoo Tunisia launched its shared data solutions 
for the logistic industry, enabling customers to more 
effectively manage their operations and better serve 
their clients. The company’s offering was well received 
as the segment continues to grow and become an 
integral part of Ooredoo Tunisia’s offering. 

Ooredoo
Tunisia

Customers
9.2 million

EBITDA
KWD 56.9 million
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Ooredoo Tunisia maintained investment in its fixed 
line network, an area which delivered strong growth 
as the demand for high speed connectivity remains on 
the rise. The company focused on expanding the reach 
of its network and deploying the latest technologies to 
ensure the highest level of service for its users and 
establishing itself as a leading provider of fixed line 
services. 

Financially, Ooredoo Tunisia performed well against 
a backdrop of political and economic instability.  
Ooredoo’s customer base in Tunisia increased by 1% 
to reach 9.2 million customers in 2019, compared to 
the previous year. In local currency terms, revenues 
were up by 6.8%. EBITDA was KWD 56.9 million in 2019 
compared to KWD 49.3 million in 2018.

Social Responsibility: 
Ooredoo Tunisia believes it is vital for a company to 
serve the community in which it operates. During the 
year, the company worked to improving the lives of 
some of the most vulnerable members of society by 
upgrading the facilities and residential quarters of the 
Grombalia retirement home. Ooredoo Tunisia also 
upgraded the facilities of schools in rural locations 
across the country, creating an environment more 
conducive to learning and greater personal wellbeing 
for the students. 

Strengthening its commitment to Tunisian football, 
Ooredoo Tunisia renewed its sponsorship contract 
with Club Africain for the two coming seasons 2019-
2020 and 2020-2021. 

The way forward…
Looking ahead, Ooredoo Tunisia sees good 
opportunities across all its business segments, 
in particular the growth of its B2B and fixed line 
segments. The company is committed to further 
investing in its infrastructure and developing its 
digital ecosystem to maintain the lead in the Tunisian 
telecommunications market.  
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Ooredoo Algeria remained resilient in a challenging 
market environment by focusing on becoming a true 
digital enabler. The Algerian telecommunications 
industry was adversely affected by intense price 
competition, shifting consumer preferences and poor 
macroeconomic conditions, spurring Ooredoo Algeria 
to differentiate itself by developing an integrated 
digital ecosystem to complement its traditional 
telecommunications offering. 

The company’s monthly active users across all its 
digital touch points exceeded 600,000 in 2019, a 
display of the strong demand for Ooredoo Algeria’s 
services across its digital products. 

Ooredoo Algeria’s ‘Haya’ Music app became the 
leading music streaming service in Algeria in 2019, 
amassing a user base of 140 thousand active listeners. 
Haya music received an international distinction, the 
“Bronze Stevie Award” in the category of Mobile Site 
& App Award. The company’s goal is the development 
of a digital ecosystem around its service offering, now 
encompassing gaming, e-learning, sports and youth 
content. As revenues from digital services continued 
to grow in 2019, up 20% from the previous year, 
Ooredoo Algeria launched new products and services 
to cater to the market demand, and some major 
exclusive services are scheduled for 2020. 

Ooredoo Algeria’s market leading network 
infrastructure is supporting its digital ecosystem. The 
company continued to strengthen and expand its 4G 
network by installing 1,400 new technical sites across 
the country enabling it to become the first operator in 
Algeria to cover all 48 wilayas with 4G. 

Customer experience remains an integral part of 
Ooredoo Algeria’s identity. In 2019, the company 
formed partnerships with Google and Facebook to 
better understand customer behaviour and optimise 
services accordingly. 

Ooredoo
Algeria 

Customers
12.6 million

EBITDA
KWD 72.4 million
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Financially, business in Algeria was negatively impacted 
by the devaluation of the Algerian Dinar, intense price 
competition and a weak economic environment. 
Customer base declined by 9% to 12.6 million in 2019, 
compared to 2018. Revenues also decreased to KWD 
208.7 million in 2019, compared to KWD 228.9 million 
in the previous year. EBITDA was KWD 72.4 million in 
2019, down from KWD 85.3 million in 2018. Algerian 
Dinar depreciated by 2% year on year.

Social Responsibility: 
Ooredoo remains committed to contribute to the 
growth of the local economy and help provide 
more opportunities for local communities. In 2019 
Ooredoo Algeria launched a pioneering public-
private collaboration to address some of the key 
issues facing the Algerian economy. Three programs 
were setup to address the underdevelopment of 
the SME sector, particularly in relation to ICT; the 
structural difficulties to becoming an entrepreneur; 
and youth unemployment. The programs supported 
29 technology start-ups – including 20 Ooredoo 
hosted incubators –  and the training of 5,400 young 
people. Promoting innovation and the creation of 
local products and content, “Made in Algeria” was the 
slogan at the heart of these programs.  

Serving local communities remains a priority for 
Ooredoo Algeria. During the holy month of Ramadan, 
the company partnered with the Algerian Muslims 
Scout association to distribute food packs on the 
main highways in the provinces of Algiers, Oran and 
Constantine so that people in need could break their 
fast with a proper meal.

The Way Forward…
With a superior network, an evolving digital ecosystem 
and exceptional customer experience, Ooredoo 
Algeria seeks to capitalise on these advantages to 
generate further growth across the business and to 
maintain a loyal customer base. Beyond the provision 
of connectivity services, revenues from digital services 
are expected to become an increasingly important 
source of revenue generation for the company. 
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Ooredoo Maldives launched the nation’s first 
e-commerce marketplace, "Moolee".  As part of the 
commitment to a Digital Maldives to streamline the user 
shopping experience from online payments and initial 
orders to nationwide delivery of goods. Equipped 
with Artificial Intelligence technology, Moolee 
enables consumer data-based recommendations, 
predictive analytics, integrated customer support 
and uninterrupted 24-hour service  

‘m-Faisaa’, Ooredoo Maldives’ innovative mobile 
payment platform, expanded to cover new partners 
across various sectors. The platform was used as a 
medium for payment for Fitr Zakat, in partnership with 
the Ministry of Islamic Affairs. The app won several 
awards including ‘Most Innovative Payment Service’ at 
the Telecom Asia Awards 2019 and a Silver Stevie for 
the ‘Innovative Use of Technology in Customer Service’ 
at the annual Stevie APAC Awards. 

During 2019 the company enhanced its ‘My Ooredoo 
App’ by integrating m-Faisaa and Moolee into a single 
user interface, providing customers with an end-to-
end digital experience, subsequently increasing digital 
engagement. In addition, Ooredoo Maldives launched 
‘Evee’, a digitally-powered customer care assistant, 
who answers queries at the call center, and on social 
media platforms such as Facebook Messenger, Viber, 
and Whatsapp. 

The company further invested in leading edge 
technologies such as VoLTE and Voice over Wi-Fi 
services, which have enhanced voice services over the 
Ooredoo network, and enable customers to enjoy voice 
calls with high quality and clarity, in addition to the 
benefits of high speed connection, noise cancellation, 
and network fall backs. Additionally, e-SIM services, 
which are now available in the Maldives, are also of 
great convenience to the locals and the millions of 
visitors the nation receives each year. 

Ooredoo Maldives introduced dedicated and 
customised plans for specific communities offering 
free calls and other benefits, including the launch of 
specific plans for farmers, teachers, and doctors. 

Content continued to be well received by customers, 
as the company further capitalised on the growth 
opportunities within the digital space and launched 
Amazon Prime bundles through its ‘My Ooredoo App’, 
a first-of-its-kind initiative globally.  

Ooredoo
Maldives  

Customers
405 k

EBITDA
KWD 22.1 million
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Financially, Ooredoo Maldives reported a 5% increase 
in revenues to KWD 40.2 million in 2019, compared 
to KWD 38.2 million in 2018. EBITDA was increased to 
KWD 22.1 million in 2019, an increase of 12% compared 
to KWD 19.7 million in 2018. Ooredoo Maldives now 
serves a total of 405k customers. 

Social Responsibility:
In 2019, Ooredoo Maldives invested in digital 
classrooms to expand the reach of quality education 
to students without access to colleges, as well as 
prisoners in detention as part of their rehabilitation 
process, and held vocational training through its 
learning platform, Ooredoo Smart Campus.

The company’s NIRU Accelerator Program, an initiative 
for innovative start-ups working towards social change, 
witnessed the launch of three innovative start-ups. 
Ooredoo Maldives’ commitment to the development 
of local communities was recognised globally as the 
NIRU Accelerator Program was awarded a Silver Stevie 
at the annual Stevie APAC Awards for “Corporate 
Social Responsibility Program of the Year” across Asia, 
Australia and New Zealand.

The company strengthened its ties to the community 
through several CSR initiatives including its continued 
partnership with UNDP Maldives for Miyaheli social 
Innovation Camp, and its collaboration with the 
Ministry of Higher Education for the Corporate 
Scholarship Scheme to offer more opportunities for 
those seeking higher studies. 

Ooredoo Maldives is continuously recognised 
internationally on its digital transformation efforts 
and initiatives, with the company being awarded 
“Best Telecom Company, Maldives” and “Best CSR 
Program of the Year, Maldives” at the International 
Business Magazine Awards 2019. Ooredoo Maldives 
was honoured with the prestigious title of “Business 
of the Year” at the Maldives Business Awards 2019, as 
well as winning the “Best CSR Program of the Year” for 
its collaboration with UNDP and HDC Maldives on the 
Smart Cities Project.

The Way Forward…
Ooredoo connection to the people of Maldives 
will remain a priority for 2020 and beyond, and as 
such Ooredoo Maldives will continue to act as an 
enabler towards a transformational era of innovative 
technologies, driven by 4G and the rise of 5G. The 
company will continue to focus on digitalization and 
leveraging content solutions to drive further growth.
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Ooredoo Palestine maintained its position as a digital 
leader in the market, since the successful launch of 
3G services nearly two years ago. In 2019, through 
consolidated efforts to build on its vision to be a 
digital enabler, bring world-class 3G services to the 
West Bank and connect Palestine to the global digital 
economy, Ooredoo Palestine was able to create a 
brand that truly resonates with its customers.

Building on its vision to be a digital enabler, Ooredoo 
Palestine implemented initiatives aligned with its ‘Get 
Digital’ programme, a multifaceted programme that 
evaluates all aspects of the company’s operations.

As part of Ooredoo Palestine’s strategy to push 
customers towards digital channels, the company 
increased its total spend on digital marketing for 2019 
dramatically. Additionally, the company invested in 
digitalisation internally, and automated all human 
resources services to become 100% paperless, leading 
to higher employee satisfaction rates. Ooredoo 
Palestine also established a dedicated ‘Customer 
Experience’ department comprising representatives 
from all departments, to analyse, manage and enhance 
customer satisfaction through all touchpoints during 
a customer’s journey.

Committed to introducing innovative initiatives to 
all its stakeholders, Ooredoo Palestine launched 
its own independent E-Topup service over its Sales 
Distribution System for vendors and Point of Sales.

During the year, Ooredoo Palestine enhanced its 
3G network to support the increased demand and 
managed high growth traffic, through the most 
reliable and protected data network to cover 97% of 
the population and covered remote areas.

Ooredoo
Palestine

Customers
1.3 million

EBITDA
KWD 9 million
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Financially, Ooredoo Palestine performed well in 2019, 
and successfully maintained its leading position as 
the growth leader in the market. Ooredoo Palestine 
customer numbers increased by 3% to 1.3 million 
comparing to previous year. EBITDA was strong, 
increasing 13% to KWD 9.0 million in 2019 compared to 
KD 8.0 million in 2018, driven by operational efficiencies 
across the business and the implementation of IFRS 16. 

Social Responsibility:
Ooredoo is driven by its commitment to benefit the 
community in which it operates. With this, Ooredoo 
Palestine continues to invest in education amongst 
the youth in the country, through supporting several 
educational programmes such as training sessions for 
budding journalists and a partnership with universities 
to market employment readiness activities and foster a 
culture of growth and development for its students.

The company also supports local community 
organisations that specialise in supporting 
Palestinian students within refugee camps and from 
marginalised areas in society.

Ooredoo Palestine organised a Ramadan campaign 
to provide direct financial support to a total of five 
charities. Four of these charities operate in the West 
Bank and aim to provide better living circumstances for 
orphans and children with autism, and one operates in 
Gaza to provide support to the elderly.

Ooredoo sponsored the Palestinian Football League 
for the fourth year, during which 24 football teams 
benefited from the sponsorship. The sponsorship - 
supported by parent company, Ooredoo Group - has 
had a significant impact on strengthening the Ooredoo 
brand amongst Palestinians.

The way forward…
During 2020, Ooredoo Palestine will continue to 
strengthen its data leader position through its 
innovative customer-focused initiatives and will 
maintain its focus on 3G in order to meet the growing 
demand in the Palestine market.
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(Acknowledgement and Undertaking)
The Accuracy & Soundness of The Financial Statements for 2019

I, the Chairman together with the members of the Board of Directors of National 
Mobile Telecommunications Company “Ooredoo Kuwait” ( NMTC), acknowledge 
and undertake the accuracy and soundness of the financial data provided to the 
external auditor. We also, assure that all the Financial Statements and Reports of 
the company have been prepared and presented in a fair and sound manner, in 
accordance with Accredited Accounting Standards applied in the State of Kuwait by 
the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) and that the same reflects the Financial Position 
of the company as of 31 December 2019 based on the information and reports 
provided by the Executive Management and auditors with diligence after applying 
best practices to verify the accuracy and soundness of the Financial Reports.
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Chairman of 
the Board 

Bachelor 
Degree, 
Business 

Administration

Master Degree, 
Military Sciences

Master Degree, 
Geography

Master Degree, 
Business 

Administration

Bachelor Degree, 
Business 

Administration

PhD, Law

Bachelor Degree, 
Aviation Sciences 

Diploma, Business 
Administration

Master Degree, 
Business 

Administration 
and Financial 

Sciences

Non-Executive March 14, 2019

March 14, 2019

March 14, 2019

March 14, 2019

March 14, 2019

March 14, 2019

March 14, 2019

March 14, 2019

Non-Executive

Non-Executive

Non-Executive

-

Independent

Independent

Independent

Member of the 
Board

Member of the 
Board

Member of the 
Board

Member of the 
Board

Member of the 
Board

Board 
Secretary

Vice Chairman

Saud bin Nasser 
Al Thani

Name Title Role Educational
Background

Election/
Appointment date

Abdulla Ahmed 
Al-Zaman

Fahad Othman 
Al-Saeed

Youssef Mohammad 
Al-Sumait

Bader Nasser
Al-Humaidi

Fatima Sultan 
Al-Kawari

Falih Ali
Al Thani

Fatena Abdel Al 
Ahmad

Rule 1:
Construct a Balanced Board Composition
The Board of Directors forms of 7 members elected by the General Assembly of the Shareholders while 
the Chairman and the Vice Chairman are both elected by the Board Members through the secret voting 
as per Article (183) - Companies Law and in accordance with article (16) of The Company Article of 
Association, amended on the 28th of November 2012. During the Annual General Assembly which took 
place in March 14th, 2019 the members of the Board were reelected. The current Board Members are:

The Company is following the "separation of duties" principle, applying the well-respected governance 
rules maintaining a distinguished CEO management role while preserving the general role of the 
chairman of the Board. Sheikh Saud bin Nasser Al Thani is the Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
the CEO is Sheikh Mohammed bin Abdullah Al Thani.
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Board of Directors’ Meetings During the Year 2019:

Board Member Name
Meeting (218)
Feb 7th, 2019

Meeting (219)
March 14th, 2019

Meeting (220)
April 24th, 2019

Meeting (221)
July 24th, 2019

Meeting (222)
Oct 23rd, 2019

Meeting (223)
Dec 11th, 2019

Total 
Meetings

Saud bin Nasser Al Thani
  Chairman

√ √ √ √ √ √ 6

 Abdulla Ahmed Al-Zaman
 Vice Chairman

√ √ √ √ √ √ 6

Fahad Othman Al-Saeed
 Independent Member

√ √ √ √ √ √ 6

Youssef Mohammad Al-Sumait
 Independent Member

√ √ √ √ √ √ 6

Bader Nasser Al-Humaidi
  Independent Member

√ √ √ √ √ √ 6

 Fatima Sultan Al-Kuwari
  Non-Executive Member

√ √ √ √ √ √ 6

Falih Ali Al Thani
  Non-Executive Member 

√ √ √ √ √ √ 6

Rule 2:
Proper Definition of Roles and 
Responsibilities
    �The Board of Directors undertakes the mission 

of supervising and the strategic directing of the 
company through reviewing and implementing 
various policies, directly or through the Board 
committees. This is achieved with the aim of 
ensuring compliance with particular criteria 
to avoid possible risks to the company. The 
Board of Directors is fully empowered and 
entirely authorized to manage Ooredoo while 
constantly working to achieve the primary 

The Secretariat: 
The Secretariat is responsible of scheduling meetings from the beginning of the year. Also, the 
secretariat is in charge of: preparing meetings’ agenda in coordination with the executive management 
then securing chairman’s approval, responsible for sending out invitations, meetings’ agendas and 
related documents beforehand; collecting members’ requirements and inquiries in this regard, 
recording minutes of meetings and sending them to all members for review and approval, acquires 
both chairman and the Board members’ signatures on the minutes then finally saving the original 
meetings records’ and archiving them digitally. 

goal of preserving shareholders’ rights and 
ultimately achieving the company’s other 
objectives. 

    �The Board overtakes applying all the necessary 
rules to achieve the goals of the governance 
system: enhancing transparency and fair 
treatment, improving control and audit 
procedures, reducing cases of conflict of interest, 
and promoting professional behavior as well as 
other rules that contribute to the progress of 
the company and the accomplishment of its 
goals. The Board of Directors held (6) meetings 
during the fiscal year 2019; all of which were 
attended by all Board members.
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    �During the year, the Board discussed 
operational developments and approved the 
company’s interim financial reporting. It has 
also amended the charter of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee and the policy 
and procedures for reporting violations and 
the Code of Professional Conduct. It also 
approved the policies for the cash dividends 
and Stakeholders and the manual Board of 
Directors, endorsing the appointment of an 
auditor, and approving business and finances 
plan as well as approving several network 
development’s contracts.

The Requirements to Establish 
Independent Committees by the Board:
- The Board of Directors’ Committees:    
    �The Board of Directors follows four 

committees which functions to establish the 
best foundation for a better effective decision-
making process. These core committees are 
the Executive Committee, Audit and Risk 
Management Committee, Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee, and the Corporate 
Governance Committee.

    �Each Board committee holds a written charter 
approved by the Board of Directors, which 
clarifies its responsibilities, duties and validity. It 
was taken into consideration, that each charter, 
should follow the obligations mentioned in 
the Corporate Governance Manual and the 
Company’s Law of Establishment, and the 
Commercial Companies Law.

A- The Executive Committee:
    �The Executive Committee was formed in 

April 2007. It undertakes all operational 
decisions which fall within its jurisdiction. The 
committee issues recommendations to the 
Board of Directors those related to operational 
and strategic matters which may surpass 
its powers. It also monitors the executive 
management’s implementation of both the 
company’s strategy and the investment plans.

    �The committee held four meetings in 2019, during 
which it researched and approved several 
projects and operational contracts. Most 
importantly are the Network Modernization, 
Customer Care outsourcing in addition to 
Cash Dividends and recommendations and 
approval on the Group and the company’s 
Business Plans. 

        - Members of the Committee:

    �1.  Sheikh Saud bin Nasser Al Thani (President)

    �2.  Mr. Bader Nasser Al-Humaidi (Member)

    �3. Mrs. Fatima Sultan Al-Kuwari (Member)

    �4.  Sheikh Falih Ali Al Thani (Member)

B- Audit and Risk Management 
Committee:
    �The committee was formed on April 1, 2007. 

Based on the Board of Director’s’ decision no. (9) 
issued during the meeting no. (193) which took 
place on February 22, 2015; Risk Management 
was added as part of the committee’s tasks. 
Hence, the committee has been renamed 
into “Risk Management and Internal Audit” 
committee. The committee review external 
and internal audit operations, prepare audit 
and risk management related reports, auditing 
the internal audit department’s performance, 
and it assists the Board to perform its auditing 
tasks and issue recommendations related to 
financial policies as well as recruiting auditors. 
The committee held 5 meetings in 2019, where 
the reports of both Risk Management and 
Internal Audit departments were reviewed. 
It has also recommended recruiting external 
auditor, neutral and independent, putting 
into consideration the internal policies and 
procedures, then approving financial auditor’s 
reports in order to present them to the Board 
of Directors; in addition to recommending 
the alteration of the Violations Policy and 
Procedures.

        - Members of the Committee:

    �1.  Mr. Abdulla Ahmed Al-Zaman (President)

    �2.  Mr. Fahad Othman Al-Saeed (Member)

    �3.  Mr. Youssef Mohammad Al-Sumait (Member)

C- �Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee:

    �The Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
was formed in September 2014. The committee 
is concerned with identifying and evaluating the 
performance of the executive management and 
setting the policies of the company’s workforce. 
It also assists the Board in the responsibility of 
nominating and appointing members of the 
executive management and the Board of directors 
and calculating their bonus.  
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    �The committee held two meetings in 2019, 
during which the performance indicators 
for the administration were set and the 
staff annual bonus was approved. And 
recommending the Board to approve the 
corporate score cards, the board members 
annual remunerations and to amend the code 
of ethical behavior

       - Members of the committee:
    �1.  Sheikh Saud bin Nasser Al Thani (President)
    �2.  Mr. Fahad Othman Al-Saeed (Member)
    �3.  Mrs. Fatima Sultan Al-Kuwari (Member)

D- Corporate Governance Committee:
    �The Corporate Governance Committee was 

formed in February 2014. It is responsible of 
observing the company’s implementation 
of corporate governance rules and putting 
together policies and provisions applied by 
the management in accordance with laws 
and regulations. The committee assists the 
Board in carrying out its responsibilities in 
issuing policies and monitoring the company’s 
performance in this regard. The committee 
held one meeting during 2019. Approving 
the Corporate Governance report and 
recommending the Approval of the Board 
manual and the stakeholders policy

    ��•   Members of the committee:
    �1.  Mr. Bader Nasser Al-Humaidi (President)
    �2.  Mr. Youssef Mohammad Al-Sumait (Member)
    �3.  Mr. Abdulla Ahmed Al-Zaman (Member)

Rule 3:
The Recruitment of Highly Qualified 
Candidates for Members of the Board of 
Directors and the Executive Management
·   �The  application  of the formation’s requirements 

of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

    �The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
consists of three members, one of whom is 
an independent member (Mr. Fahad Othman 
Al-Saeed) and the chairman who is a non-
executive member (Sheikh Saud bin Nasser Al 
Thani). The committee prepares, reviews and 
develops the remuneration policy periodically 
and assesses its effectiveness in accomplishing 
its goals. It also works to facilitate the role of 
the Board of Directors and provides support by 
recommending the remuneration of members 
of the Board and the executive management.

·   �The Remuneration Report granted to members 
of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management.

    �The Remuneration of the members of the Board 
of Directors and the Executive Management 
shall be based on the policy approved by the 
Board of Directors. The Nominations and 
Remunerations Committee determines The 
Remuneration and the Approval by the Board. 
The committee prepares an annual report to 
present it to The Annual General Assembly of 
the company’s shareholders, which includes 
all the rewards and bonuses obtained by the 
executive management and members of the 
Board, whether fixed or variable.

Rule 4:
The Integrity of Financial Reporting
    �Written acknowledgement are presented by 

both the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management to indicate the integrity of the 
prepared financial reports.

    �The Internal Audit Department monitors the 
performance of the executive management, 
reviews interim financial reports and 
provides advisory services to the executive 
management to ensure that it carries out 
its responsibilities in accordance with the 
applied standards, under the supervision of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
and to ensure transparency and credibility. 
The management investigates any violations 
committed by any of the management 
members in accordance to the related policy. 
The results of these investigations are then 
submitted to the executive management to 
take the necessary measures. The employees 
of the Audit Department are fully independent 
and have a respectable expertise to qualify 
them to perform the role assigned to them.

    �In the event of a conflict between the 
recommendations of the Audit Committee and the 
decisions of the Board of Directors, a statement 
is contained within, detailing and clarifying the 
recommendations and the reason or reasons 
behind the decision of the Board of Directors not 
to abide by them.

·   �The application of the requirements of forming 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee

    �The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
consists of three members, one of whom is 



39

an independent member (Mr. Fahad Othman 
Al-Saeed) and the Chairman, who is the Vice 
Chairman of the Board (Mr. Abdullah Al-Zaman) 
who holds a master’s degree in Business 
Administration and Financial Sciences. The 
committee is responsible for ensuring the 
integrity and reliability of financial reports 
as well as the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Internal audit systems, overseeing the 
internal audit department and reviewing risk 
management policies and strategies. The 
committee also works to assist the Board 
of directors in identifying and assessing 
the acceptable level of risks, and providing 
support through the recommendation on the 
organizational structure of risk management.

·  �Ensuring the independence and neutrality of 
the external auditor

    �The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
makes a recommendation to appoint the 
external auditor, and the Board’s role is to 
adopt this recommendation and submit it 
to the General Assembly for approval. The 
company is keen not to assign any additional 
work to the auditor to avoid any conflict of 
interest that may affect the neutrality.

    �The external auditor has been invited to attend 
all Audit and Risk Management Committee’s 
meetings and has been also invited to attend 
the meetings of the Board of Directors that 
discuss the interim financial statements. The 
external auditor is also notified of the date of 
the general assembly to attend and read its 
annual report.

Rule 5:
Apply Risk Management and 
Internal Control Proper Systems
    �Risk Management:

    �The risk management works to implement the 
risk strategy and policy and prepare periodic 
reports on the nature of the risks to which the 
company is exposed and submit it to the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee for approval, 
in preparation for presentation to the Board of 
Directors. The risk management employees 
have the independence and expertise to qualify 
them to play the role assigned to them.

• � � �The internal control systems.

    �The company adopts effective systems for 
internal control to control the integrity of 
financial data and to measure, follow-up and 

limit the risks that the company may face, in 
implementation of the risk policy that the Board 
of Directors is keen to update and develop to 
keep up with the regulatory requirements, and 
the risk management manager and employees 
enjoy complete independence through 
their functional dependence of the Audit 
and Management Committee Risks, and the 
company annually appoints an independent 
audit office to monitor and evaluate internal 
control systems and report to the Capital 
Markets Authority in accordance with the 
relevant regulations and rules.

• �  �Applying the requirements of forming an 
independent department / office / unit for 
internal auditing.

    �The internal audit department of the 
company consists of a sector head and 
employees who enjoy a great amount of 
knowledge and experience in that field, as 
well as full functional independence through 
their direct subordination to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee, which helps 
them to carry out their tasks away from any 
administrative influences or pressures.

Rule 6:
Promote Code of Conduct and 
Ethical Standards
·  Professional behavior and moral values:

    �The employees of the company shall abide by 
the code of professional conduct that defines 
the standards and determinants of behavior 
and values ​​adopted by the administration 
in the exercise of administrative and 
operational tasks, which ensures that the 
company achieves its goals in an ethical and 
professional framework consistent with the 
work environment in the State of Kuwait and 
reflects the culture of society.

·  �Policies and mechanisms for reducing conflict 
of interest cases.

    �The Board of Directors seeks to consolidate a 
culture of professional behavior and enhance 
investor confidence in the company’s integrity 
and financial stability, by adhering to the 
principles of governance, and setting a policy 
of conflict of interests. The Board also adopted 
a policy of Stakeholders and the related parties’ 
policy, which all aim to prevent all forms of 
conflict of interest.
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Rule 7:
Ensure Timely and High-Quality 
Disclosure and Transparency
    �The company adheres to all the disclosure 

requirements and issues all financial reports, 
audit reports and other information in an 
accurate and transparent manner, including 
financial statements and private disclosures. 
The company’s management confirms that 
all data provided in this regard is accurate, 
correct and not misleading. Also, all the 
annual financial reports of the company are 
in conformity with the international standards 
for financial reports and their requirements, 
and the Investor Affairs Regulatory Unit 
is committed to its role in organizing the 
disclosure procedures and following up the 
disclosures of members of the Board of 
Directors, and preparing a record of these 
disclosures.

·   �The application of the requirements of 
the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management’s  disclosures  record 

    �The managment is obligated to prepare a 
record of disclosures for each of the members 
of the board of directors and members of the 
executive management in order to ensure that 
all their disclosures are accurate and clear in 
line with the applicable disclosure rules.

·  �The implementation of the requirements for 
forming the Investor relations Unit.

    �The Investors relations Unit was established to 
ensure communication and transparency with 
shareholders and respond to their complaints 
in accordance with approved policies and 
procedures. The unit is also handled by 
specialists in the field of investor relations 
who are familiar with the applicable laws and 
regulations.

·  �How to develop the IT infrastructure, and 
rely heavily on it for disclosures.

    �The company has created a dedicated section 
on the company’s corporate governance 
website. It displays all the disclosures, and the 
Investors relations Regulatory Unit creates a 
record of the disclosures made throughout 
the year. 

Rule 8:
Respecting shareholders’ rights
·  �Implement the requirements of defining and 

protecting the general rights of shareholders

    �The management aims to protect the rights 
of shareholders and implement the rules 
of governance to ensure that the goals of 
shareholders are consistent with the goals of 
the company. In 2019, the board membership 
elections were held, where all shareholders were 
allowed to vote to choose their representatives 
from the board of directors, and they were 
also allowed to view the board of directors and 
the executive management achievements and 
had the chance to assess their performance. 
The shareholders also received annual profits 
according to the announced schedule.

·   �Create a special register for shareholders, to 
be kept with Kuwait Clearing Company  (KCC)

    �The company maintains a register of 
shareholders, and has assigned Kuwait 
Clearing Company (KCC) for safekeeping this 
register. Shareholders can view this register 
and obtain all relevant information. The 
company also maintains open and transparent 
communication channels with shareholders, 
and publishes information regularly through 
its website and through various media 
channels.

·  �Encouraging shareholders to participate and 
vote in the General Assembly Meetings

    �The company is keen on giving all shareholders 
all the information and reports required to 
inform them of the company’s updates. The 
management prepares and publishes the 
meeting agenda in accordance with the law 
in order to allow the shareholders to view it, 
participate in voting and take the appropriate 
decision. The Chairman and members of the 
board are always keen to attend the Assembly 
Meeting to respond to shareholders ’questions 
and pay attention to their comments. The 
voting process is carried out in a transparent 
and fair manner, ensuring that all shareholders 
participate actively in the voting process, and 
the objections of the members are recorded in 
the minutes of the Assembly Meeting.
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Rule 9:
Recognize the Roles of 
Stakeholders
·   �Methods and policies that ensure protection 

and recognition of the rights of the 
Stakeholders

    �The company recognizes the rights of 
Stakeholders and seeks to monitor and 
protect these rights. The company’s policies 
ensure maintaining good relations with 
all Stakeholders and guaranteeing their 
treatment in accordance with the applicable 
rules and provisions. At the beginning of 2019, 
the Board of Directors approved the policy of 
Stakeholders, which ensures the maximum 
protection of their rights in a transparent and 
accurate manner.

·   �How to encourage Stakeholders to track the 
company’s activities

    �The management publishes the company’s 
activities and its latest updates on its official 
website. It adopts a disclosure policy that 
guarantees transparency, speed and accuracy 
in disseminating the essential information 
that is of interest to all Stakeholders.

Rule 10:
Improve and Enhance 
Performance 
·   �Training courses for Board members and 

executive management 

    �The Board of Directors is keen on enhancing and 
improving its performance and developing its 
leadership skills, and encouraging members 
of the Board of Directors to develop and 
upgrade their information about corporate 
governance. Members of the Board of Directors 
have obtained a workshop to enhance their 
knowledge of governance requirements and 
new accounting standards and its impact on 
the company.

·   �Ways to evaluate the performance of the board 
of directors as a whole, and the performance 
of each Board member and members of the 
executive management

    �The Board of Directors conducts an annual 
self-assessment of its performance, the 
performance of its committees, and its 
members, and it also evaluates the performance 
of the executive management in accordance 
with the established standards and principles.

·   �The efforts of the Board of Directors on (Value 
Creation) for the employees of the company 
through achieving strategic goals and 
improving performance rates.

    �The Board of Directors adopted the Charter 
of Professional Conduct and Ethics that 
emphasizes the principles and values ​​adopted 
by the company. The Board is keen to urge senior 
management to continuously communicate 
with employees of the company using social 
media channels to link employee performance 
to the company’s goals and principles.

Rule 11:
The Corporate Social 
Responsibility
·  Social responsibility policy

    �The Board of Directors has established a policy to 
ensure a balance between the company’s and 
society’s goals. The company is committed to 
aligning its values ​​and its business strategy with 
social and economic needs, while responsible 
and ethical businesses become the core of the 
implementation of every activity the company 
organizes. The company exercises a great deal 
of transparency when setting the annual plan 
of its social responsibility activities.

· � �Programs and mechanisms used to highlight 
the company’s efforts in the field of social work

    �Ooredoo in Kuwait continued to support the 
community, with a strong belief in its social 
responsibility and commitment to the brand 
values; the most important of which are “Care” 
and “Connect”.

    �Thus, the company’s efforts in the field of 
volunteering continued in 2019 through 
“Ooredoo Volunteer Program – OVP”, which 
witnessed the participation of more than 
1500 Kuwaiti volunteered young males and 
females since its establishment in 2015 
until today. These young people had the 
opportunity to participate and volunteer in 
important voluntary initiatives and projects 
that contributed to creating positive change 
in society. Towards end of 2019, the program 
won the award for “Best Voluntary Initiative 
of 2019 in Kuwait” for the fourth consecutive 
time during the “Youth Initiatives Conference”.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of National Mobile 
Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis for Opinion	
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (“the IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

a) Revenue 

There is an inherent risk around the accuracy of revenue recorded due to the complexity of 
Information Technology (“IT”) environment in which billing, rating and other relevant support systems 
reside; and changes to  tariff plans and multiple element contracts with customers, which impact 
timing and recognition of revenue. Furthermore, the recognition of revenue under IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, is complex and requires elements of judgements and estimates. The 
standard requires decisions to be made on whether the service is performed point in time or point 
over time, whether the relationship with counterparties are in the nature of principal or agent etc. 
Due to these complexities, we have identified the revenue recognition as a key audit matter.

The accounting policies for revenue recognition for the different revenue streams are set out in note 
2 (0) to the consolidated financial statements. The total revenue disaggregated by major service lines 
is disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
controls over the IT environment in which rating, billing and other relevant support system reside, 
change control procedures in place around those systems that bill and record material revenue 
streams. Our audit procedures also included the reconciliation of the revenue generated from online 
charging system and billing system to the general ledger and the test of details of revenue recorded. 
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b)    Impairment of goodwill
As at 31 December 2019, the goodwill is carried at KD 161,329 thousand. The impairment test 
of goodwill performed by the management is significant to our audit as the assessment of the 
recoverable amount of goodwill under the value-in-use basis is complex and requires considerable 
judgment on the part of management. Estimates of future cash flows are based on management’s 
views of variables such as the growth in the telecom sector, economic conditions such as the economic 
growth and expected inflation rates and yield. Therefore, we identified the impairment testing of 
goodwill as a key audit matter.
We tested the key assumptions forming the Group’s value-in-use calculation including the cash 
flow projections and discount rate. We have also involved our valuation specialists in these audit 
procedures. We have assessed the historical accuracy of management’s estimates, evaluation and 
testing the assumptions, methodologies, the discount rate and data used by the Group, for example, 
by comparing them to external data. We assessed the discount rate, terminal growth rate and the 
appropriateness of the valuation model used. Additionally, we have analysed the sensitivities such 
as the impact on the headroom if the growth rate would be decreased or the discount rate would 
be increased. We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures included in note 5 of the 
consolidated financial statements about those assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment 
test is more sensitive. The Group’s policy on assessing impairment of these items is given in note 2(i) 
of the consolidated financial statements.

c)  First time adoption of IFRS 16 - Leases

The international Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRS 16 - “Leases” replacing “IAS 17 - Leases” 
and its interpretations, IFRS 16 specifies how and entity recognises, measures, presents and discloses 
leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and 
liablities for all lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. The Group has 
applied IFRS 16 from the initial application date of 1 january 2019 and has adopted modified retrospective 
as its transition approach by not restating comparatives but adjusting equlty. Hhe Implementation 
of IFRS 16 is considered a key audit matter as this is the first year of implementation  and there are 
significant judgments and estimates involved in its application. The Group,s Pollcy on lease accounting is 
given in note 2(i) of the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls 
over  the recognition and jmeasurement of “right of use assets” and “lease liabilities”. We assessed and 
tested the Group,s accounting policies over leases, including the key judgments and estimates applied 
by management in consideration of the requirements of IFRS 16. Our audit procedures also included 
the testing of original lease contracts of other supporting information on a sample basis and ensured 
the accuracy of recognition of “right of use assets:, , “lease liabilities”, and “depreciation of right of use 
assets”. 

Other information included in the Group’s 2019 Annual Report
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s 2019 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. 
Prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we obtained the Board of Directors’ report which forms 
part of the annual report and the remaining sections of the annual report are expected to be made 
available to us after that date.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
COMPANY K.S.C.P. (CONTINUED)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements  (Continued)
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If, based on the work we have performed on other information that we have obtained prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•   �Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

•   �Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•   �Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•   �Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
COMPANY K.S.C.P. (CONTINUED)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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•   �Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•   �Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

•   �We communicate to Those Charged with Governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

•  � We also provide to Those Charged with Governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

•   �From the matters communicated to Those Charged with Governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare  
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of accounts have been kept by the Company and the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Company’s Board 
of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We 
further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose 
of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all the information that is 
required by the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations and by the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly 
carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law 
No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations or of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and 
Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2019 that 
might have had a material effect on the business of the Company or on its consolidated financial 
position.

Bader A. Al-Wazzan
License No. 62A
Deloitte & Touche
Al-Wazzan & Co.
Kuwait
06 February 2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
COMPANY K.S.C.P. (CONTINUED)
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2019 2018
Note KD 000’s KD 000’s

Assets
Non-current assets
Right-of-use assets 4 124,307 -
Property and equipment 5  502,329 514,625
Intangible assets and goodwill 6  315,708 312,252
Investment securities 7  2,088 2,653
Deferred tax asset 8   27,035  22,730
Deferred contract cost and contract assets 10   7,517 6,229
Other non-current assets   2,208  2,318

981,192 860,807
Current assets
Inventories  27,383 26,866
Deferred contract cost and contract assets 10   7,210  7,413
Trade and other receivables 9 163,834 174,317
Bank balances and cash 11  90,459 92,103

288,886 300,699
Total assets  1,270,078 1,161,506

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
 Share capital 12  50,403 50,403
Treasury shares 12  (3,598) (3,598)
Foreign currency translation reserve  (293,437) (309,192)
Other reserves 12 242,669 240,019
Retained earnings 575,921 577,655
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 571,958 555,287
Non-controlling interests 104,792 107,219
Total equity 676,750 662,506

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Long term debts 14  28,112 34,037
Provision for staff indemnity  11,916 10,751
Lease Liabilities 13   110,708  -
Contract liabilities  955 1,177
Other non-current liabilities  15,491 16,177

167,182 62,142
Current liabilities
Lease Liabilities 13 15,463 -
Trade and other payables 15 273,440 275,122
Deferred income  42,857 48,160
Income tax payable 8  12,412 16,897
Contract liabilities  3,618 3,485
Long term debts - current 14  78,356 93,194

426,146 436,858
Total liabilities 593,328 499,000
Total equity and liabilities 1,270,078 1,161,506

Saud Bin Nasser Al Thani
Chairman

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019 2018

Note KD 000’s KD 000’s

Revenue     16  633,493 665,033

Operating expenses   (261,050) (296,053)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 17  (156,926) (168,928)
Finance costs – net 18 (11,851) (7,336)
Depreciation and amortisation 4,5 & 6 (147,859) (137,475)
Other (expenses)/ income – net  (2,591) 609
Profit before provision for Directors’ remuneration, provision 
for contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement 
of Sciences (“KFAS”), National Labour Support Tax (“NLST”), 
Zakat and Taxation related to subsidiaries 53,216 55,850
Provision for Directors’ remuneration  (634) (656)
Provision for contribution to KFAS, NLST and Zakat 20 (1,388) (1,644)
Profit before taxation 51,194 53,550
Taxation related to subsidiaries 8   (16,445) (18,607)

Profit for the year 34,749 34,943
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 30,127 29,709
Non-controlling interests 4,622 5,234

34,749 34,943

Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils) 21   60 59

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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	 2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Profit for the year 34,749 34,943

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to consolidated statement of profit or 
loss

Effect of net changes in fair value of equity instruments which are carried at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (note 7) (565) (1,984)
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  17,278 (64,735)
Total items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the  consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and items that will not be reclassified subsequently to consolidated 
statement of profit or loss 16,713 (66,719)
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 16,713 (66,719)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 51,462 (31,776)
Attributable to: 

Shareholders of the Company 45,317 (29,103)
Non-controlling interests 6,145 (2,673)

51,462 (31,776)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Other
reserves

Retained 
earnings (*)

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders of  
the Company

Non-
controlling  

interests
Total 

equity

KD 
000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Balance at 1 January 
2018 50,403 (3,598) (252,364) 239,573 578,400 612,414 113,917 726,331

Impact on adoption of  
IFRS 9 & 15 - - - (771) 8,463 7,692 138 7,830

Restated balance at
1  January 2018 50,403 (3,598) (252,364) 238,802 586,863 620,106 114,055 734,161

Comprehensive 
income

Profit for the year - - - - 29,709 29,709 5,234 34,943

Other comprehensive 
loss for the year - - (56,828) (1,984) - (58,812) (7,907) (66,719)

Total comprehensive 
(loss) / income for the 
year 

- - (56,828) (1,984) 29,709 (29,103) (2,673) (31,776)

Transfer to employee 
association fund - - - - (140) (140) (47) (187)

Effect of issue of right 
shares by a subsidiary - - - - (495) (495) 5,228 4,733

Dividends (note 12) - - - - (35,081) (35,081) (9,344) (44,425)

Transfer to voluntary 
reserve (note 12) - - - 3,201 (3,201) - - -

Balance at 31 
December 2018 50,403 (3,598) (309,192) 240,019 577,655 555,287 107,219 662,506

Balance at 1st 
January 2019 50,403 (3,598) (309,192) 240,019 577,655 555,287 107,219 662,506

Impact on adoption of 
IFRS 16 - - - - (3,475)  (3,475) (1,287) (4,762)

Restated balance at
1 January 2019 50,403 (3,598) (309,192) 240,019 574,180 551,812 105,932 657,744

Comprehensive 
income

Profit for the year - - - - 30,127 30,127 4,622 34,749

Other comprehensive 
income / (loss) for the 
year 

- - 15,755  (565)  -    15,190 1,523 16,713

Total comprehensive 
income / (loss) for the 
year 

- - 15,755  (565) 30,127 45,317 6,145 51,462

Transfer to employee 
association fund - - - -  (113)  (113)  (37) (150)

Dividends (note 12) - - - -  (25,058)  (25,058)   (7,248) (32,306)

Transfer to voluntary 
reserve (note 12) - - - 3,215 (3,215) - - -

Balance at 31 
December 2019 50,403 (3,598) (293,437) 242,669 575,921  571,958 104,792 676,750

* �Includes an amount of KD 8,409 thousand (31 December 2018 : KD 7,941 thousand) related to legal reserve for 
one of the subsidiaries, not available for distribution.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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2019 2018
Note KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cash flows:
Profit before taxation 51,194 53,550

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 4 & 5 & 6 147,859 137,475
Interest income 18 (2,085) (1,404)
Dividend income  (15) (3)
Expected credit loss on financial assets 8,359 9,925
Loss / (gain) on disposal and write off of property and equipment 20 (46)
Finance costs 18 13,936 8,740
Provision for KFAS, NLST  and Zakat 20 1,388 1,644
Provision for staff indemnity 2,152 1,992
Operating profit before changes in working capital 222,808 211,873
Changes in:
Trade and other receivables (223) (6,110)
Contract costs and contract assets  (1,113) 9
Other non-current assets 181 (251)
Inventories (532) (620)
Trade and other payables (2,993) (65,285)
Deferred Income (5,303) (8,756)
Contract liabilities (89) 2,492
Other non-current liabilities (708) (3,522)
Cash generated from operating activities 212,028  129,830
Payment for staff indemnity (974) (622)
Taxation paid 8 (22,979) (24,470)
Net cash generated from operating activities 188,075 104,738

Cash flows from investing activities:
(Increase)/ decrease in term deposits (15,116) 36,068
Purchase of property and equipment 5 (95,485) (85,624)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 380 2,804
Acquisition of intangible assets 6 (5,743) (3,930)
Dividend income received 15 3
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets - 253
Interest income received 2,085 1,404
Net cash used in investing activities (113,864) (49,022)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Finance costs paid (7,280) (8,740)
Dividends paid (25,174) (35,030)
Dividend paid by subsidiary to non-controlling interests (7,202) (19,254)
Payment to employee association fund (150) (187)
Net decrease in long term debts (20,856) (599)
Payment of lease liabilities including interest 13 (28,827) -
Proceeds from right issue of shares by a subsidiary - 4,733
Net cash used in financing activities (89,489) (59,077)
Effect of foreign currency translation (1,482) 2,695
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (16,760) (666)
Transition adjustment on adoption of IFRS 9 - (92)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 77,176 77,934
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 11 60,416 77,176

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Incorporation and activities 

   � �National Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. (“the Company”) is a Kuwaiti shareholding 
company incorporated by Amiri Decree on 10 October 1997. The Company and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as “the Group”) are engaged in the following:

-     �Purchase, supply, installation, management and maintenance of wireless sets and equipment, mobile 
telephone services, pager system and other telecommunication services;

-     �Import and export of sets, equipment and instruments necessary for the purposes of the Company;
-     �Purchase or hiring communication lines and facilities necessary for providing the Company’s services 

in co-ordination with the services provided by the State, but without interference or conflict herewith;
-     �Purchase of manufacturing concessions directly related to the Company’s services from manufacturers 

or producing them in Kuwait;
-     �Introduction or management of other services of similar nature and supplementary to telecommunications 

services with a view to upgrade such services or rendering them integrated;
-     �Conduct technical research relating to the Company’s business in order to improve and upgrade the 

Company’s services in co-operation with competent authorities within Kuwait and abroad;
-     �Purchase and holding of lands, construction and building of facilities required for achieving the Company’s 

objectives
-     �Purchase of all materials and machineries needed to undertake the Company’s activities as well as their 

maintenance in all possible modern methods;
-     �Use of financial surplus available at the Company by investing the same in portfolios managed by 

specialized companies and parties as well as authorizing the board to undertake the same; and
-     �The Company may have interest or in any way participate with corporate and organizations which 

practice similar activities or which may assist it in achieving its objectives in Kuwait or abroad. It 
may acquire such corporates, or make them subsidiary.

The Company operates under a licence from the Ministry of Communications, State of Kuwait 
and elsewhere through subsidiaries in the Middle East and North Africa region and Maldives. The 
Company’s shares are listed on the Boursa Kuwait. 

The Company is a subsidiary of Ooredoo International Investments L.L.C., (“the Parent Company”), 
a subsidiary of Ooredoo Q.P.S.C. (“Ooredoo”) (“the Ultimate Parent Company”), which is a Qatari 
shareholding company listed on the Qatar Exchange.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Ooredoo Tower, Soor Street, Kuwait City, State of 
Kuwait, P.O. Box 613, Safat 13007, State of Kuwait.

The number of employees of the Company at 31 December 2019 was 454 (2018: 482)

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on 6 February 2020 and are subject to the approval of the Annual General Assembly of the 
shareholders which has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements.
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

a)  Basis of preparation

     �The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
the re-measurement at fair value of investment securities.

     �These consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”), which is 
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

     �The principal accounting policies have been applied consistently by the Group and are consistent 
with those used in the previous year, with the exception of new accounting policies as set out 
in note 2 (c).

b)  Statement of compliance

     �The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”), interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Committee of the IASB 
and the relevant provisions of the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its executive regulations, 
as amended; and the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as 
amended; and Ministerial Order No. 18 of 1990.

c)  New standards and amendments effective from 1 January 2019
     �The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 

statements are consistent with those used in the previous year except for the following 
new and amended IASB Standards during the year:

i.  Impact of adoption of IFRS 16 Leases

     �The Group has applied IFRS 16, which replaces IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations, 
with a date of initial application of 1 January 2019. As a result, the Group has changed its 
accounting policy for lease contracts as detailed below.

     �The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the 
cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 January 
2019. Accordingly, the information presented for the year ended 31 December 2018 has 
not been restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related 
interpretations.

     �The details of the changes in the accounting policies are disclosed below.

     �Definition of leases
     �Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or contains 

a lease under IFRIC 4. Under IFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a 
lease based on the definition of a lease, as explained below.

     �A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses 
whether:

•    �the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, 
and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically 
distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     -     �the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the asset throughout the period of use; and

     -     �the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has the right when 
it has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what 
purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what 
purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the use of 
the asset if either:

     -     �the Group has the right to operate the asset; or
     -     �the Group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose 

it will be used.

     �On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected following practical expedients permitted by the 
standard, on lease by lease basis:

     -     �the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 
characteristics

     -     �reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous
     -     �the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months 

as at 1 January 2019 as short-term leases
     -     �the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the 

date of initial   application, and
     -     �the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options 

to extend or terminate the lease.

     �The group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the 
date of initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date the 
group relied on its previous assessment of leases under IAS 17 and related interpretations. 

     �As a lessee

     �As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on 
its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Group.

     �The group recognized lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been 
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were 
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The weighted average lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 3.4% to 
8.5%.

     �For leases previously classified as finance leases the entity recognised the carrying amount of the 
lease asset and lease liability immediately before transition as the carrying amount of the right of 
use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial application. The measurement principles of 
IFRS 16 are only applied after that date.

     �Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment, small items of office furniture etc. underlying 
asset value of which is less than USD 5,000. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)
      �Following is the reconciliation between operating lease commitment as at 31 December 2018 as disclosed in 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements and lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019:

 1 January 
2019

KD’000

Operating lease commitment as at 31 December 2018 43,602

Add: Operating lease commitment not included in the opening balance 63,001

Adjusted operating lease commitment as at 31 December 2018 106,603

Discounted value using the incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019 79,115

Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2018 7

Add: Adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and termination options and other 
adjustments  43,197

Lease liabilities recognized as at 1 January 2019  122,319

Of which are:
-   Non-current lease liabilities  105,949
-   Current lease liabilities 16,370

 
      �The associated right-of-use assets for few leases were measured on retrospective basis as if the new rules 

had always been applied. Other right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, 
adjusted by the amount of prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognized in the 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2018. There were no onerous lease contracts that would have required an 
adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application. The recognized right of use of assets 
relate to the following types of assets:

 December 31
2019

January 1 
2019 

KD’000 KD’000

Land and buildings 17,731 15,601

Exchange and network assets 105,196 103,543

Subscribers’ apparatus and other equipment 1,380 1,865

Total right of use of assets 124,307 121,009

     �The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the consolidated statement of financial 
position on 1 January 2019:

KD’000

31 December 
2018

Increase/
(decrease)

1 January 
2019

Property and equipment 514,625 (4,263) 510,362

Right of use of assets - 121,009 121,009

Trade and other receivables 174,317 (2,367) 171,950

Other non-current assets 2,318 689 3,007

Deferred tax assets 22,730 2,482 25,212

Lease liabilities -  122,319  122,319

Trade and other payables 275,122 (7) 275,115

Retained earnings 577,655 (3,475)  574,180

Non-controlling interest 107,219 (1,287) 105,932
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)
      �The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the condensed consolidated statement of 

profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019:

31 December 
2019

As reported
Increase/

(decrease)

31 December 
2019

Without 
adoption of 

IFRS 16

KD’000 KD’000 KD’000

Operating expenses  (261,050) 23,642 (284,692)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (156,926) 2,245  (159,171)

Depreciation and amortisation  (147,859) (21,509) (126,350)

Finance cost – net (11,851) (6,187) (5,664)

Other income – expenses / net (2,591) 185 (2,776)

Income taxes (16,445) 258 (16,703)

Profit for the year 34,749 (1,366) 36,115

Profit attributable to shareholders  30,127  (1,057) 31,184

Profit attributable to non-controlling interest  4,622  (309) 4,931

      �ii.  IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

      �The Group has adopted IFRIC 23 for the first time in the current year. IFRIC 23 sets out how to determine the 
accounting tax position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation requires 
the Group to: 

      �·   �determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group; and 
      �·   �assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be 

used, by an entity in its income tax filings: 

      �-   �If yes, the Group should determine its accounting tax position consistently with the tax treatment used or planned 
to be used in its income tax filings. 

      �-   �If no, the Group should reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting tax position using either the 
most likely amount or the expected value method. 

      �The Group adopted IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ resulting in no impact in the balances 
of tax payables of the Group in relation to its uncertain tax positons.Other amendments to IFRSs which are 
effective for annual accounting period starting from 1 January 2019 did not have any material impact on the 
accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

     Standards issued but not effective

     �At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following 
new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

     �Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material

     �In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and 
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to align the definition of 
‘material’ across the standards and to clarify certain aspects of the definition. The new definition 
states that, ’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements 
make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a 
specific reporting entity.’ The amendments to the definition of material is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

     �The amendments are applied prospectively on or after 1 January 2020, with early application 
permitted.

     �The Group does not expect that the adoption of the Standards and Interpretations listed above will 
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in future periods.

�d)  Basis of consolidation
     �These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries (note 19). 
     �Subsidiaries

     �Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases.

     �Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions are also 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed, where necessary, to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

     �Non-controlling interests represent the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated 
subsidiaries not attributable directly, or indirectly, to the equity holders of the Company. Equity 
and net income attributable to non-controlling interests are shown separately in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

     �Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a 
deficit balance.

     �Loss of control

     �On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-
controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or 
deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the 
Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value 
at the date that control is lost. 
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

     �Business combinations

     �Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which 
is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has the right to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its powers over the entity.

     �The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 

     �Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group measures 
goodwill at the acquisition date as:

     �-   the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
     �-   the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
     �-   �if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in 

the acquiree; less
     �-   �the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed.
     �When the result is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

     �The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss.

     �Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination, are expensed as incurred. If the business 
combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

     �Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the 
contingent consideration is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss or in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

     �If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held 
by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion 
of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration 
transferred in the business combination. This determination is based on the market-based value 
of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and 
the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.

     �Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

     �The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis at fair value. Transactions with non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions 
with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. 
Adjustments to non-controlling 
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

      �interests arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a 
proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

      �Foreign currency 

      �Functional and presentation currency

      �Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is 
the Group’s presentation currency, rounded off to the nearest thousand.

      �Transactions and balances

      �Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

      �Foreign operations

      �The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
on acquisition, are translated to Kuwaiti Dinar at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 
Income and expenses for each statements of profit or loss are translated at average exchange 
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in this case income and expenses are translated at the rate on 
the dates of the transactions). 

      �Foreign currency differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then 
the relevant portion of the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests. When a 
foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the 
cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that foreign operation is 
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

      �When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation 
while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-
controlling interests. 

      �When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is 
neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses arising 
from such item are considered to form part of a net investment in the foreign operation and are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and presented in foreign 
currency translation reserve in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

�e)   Fair values
      �Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

      �•   In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

      �•   In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

      �The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. The fair value 
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest.

      �A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. The Group uses 
valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing 
the use of unobservable inputs.

      �All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

      ·   �Level 1	 -  Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
      ·   �Level 2	 -  �Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
      �·   �Level 3	 -  �Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable. 
     �For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to 

quoted market prices. Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. 

     �For unquoted financial instruments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a 
similar investment, discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes. 

     �For financial instruments carried at amortized cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting 
future cash flows at the current market rate of return for similar financial instruments. 

     �For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a 
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. For the purpose of 
fair value disclosures, the Group determines classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained above.

�f)   Financial Instruments
     �In the normal course of business the Group uses financial instruments, principally cash and bank 

balances, trade and other receivables, investments securities, trade and other payables, lease liabilities, 
and debts.

     �Recognition/ Derecognition

     �A financial asset or a financial liability is recognized when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

     �A financial asset (in whole or in part) is de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial asset has expired or the Group has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership and has not retained control. If the Group has retained control, 
it continues to recognize the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the 
financial asset. A financial liability is derecognized when the Group’s obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability.

     �All financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are added to the cost of 
all financial instruments except for financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Transaction costs on financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

     �Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
     �Financial Assets

     �The Group determines classification and measurement category of financial assets, except equity 
instruments and derivatives, based on a combination of the entity’s business model for managing 
the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics.

     �Business model assessment

     �The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of 
financial assets to achieve its business objective. The Group’s business model is not assessed on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on 
observable factors such as:

     ·    �How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business 
model are evaluated and reported to the Group’s key management personnel;

     �·    �The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 
that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed;

     �·    �How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is 
based on the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).

     �The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Group’s 
assessment. The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without 
taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition 
are realised in a way that is different from the Group’s original expectations, the Group does 
not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but 
incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial 
assets going forward.

     �Contractual cash flows assessment 

     �Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual 
cash flows and to sell the financial instrument, the Group assesses whether the financial 
instrument’s cash flows represent Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (“SPPI”).

     �‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial 
recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example: if there are repayments 
of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount). 

     �The most significant elements of interest are typically the consideration for the time value of 
money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers 
relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period 
for which the interest rate is set.
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �The Group reclassifies a financial asset only when its business model for managing those assets 
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. 
Such changes are expected to be very infrequent.

     �The Group classifies financial assets upon initial recognition of IFRS 9 into the following categories:
     �·    Amortised cost (AC)

     �·    Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

     �·    Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

     �Amortised cost (AC)

     �The Group classifies financial assets at Amortised Cost, if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated as at FVTPL:

     �·    �The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

     �·    �The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.

     �Financial assets classified at Amortised Cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method adjusted for impairment losses, if any. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains/losses and impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

     �Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

     �Debt instruments at FVOCI

     �The Group classifies debt instruments at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions:-

     �·    �The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets

     �·    �The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

     �Debt instrument classified as FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses 
arising due to changes in fair value recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). Interest 
income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified 
from OCI to consolidated statement of profit or loss.

     �Equity instruments at FVOCI

     �Upon initial recognition, the Group may elect to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments 
as at FVOCI, if they meet the definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, 
and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument 
basis.
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �Equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair values including 
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in OCI. Gains and losses on these equity instruments 
are never recycled to consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss when the right of the payment has been established, except when the Group 
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains 
are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. On 
derecognition, cumulative gains or losses are reclassified from fair value reserve to retained earnings in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

     �Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL)

     �Financial assets whose business model is to acquire and sell, or whose contractual terms do not 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) 
on the principal amount outstanding, are classified as FVTPL.

     �In addition to the above, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at 
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise 
arise.

     �Financial assets classified as FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses 
arising due to changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
Interest income and dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to payment has been established.

     �Financial liabilities 

     �Financial liabilities “other than at fair value through profit or loss” are subsequently measured 
and carried at amortized cost using the effective yield method. Interest expense and foreign 
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
also recognised in profit or loss. Equity interests are classified as financial liabilities if there is a 
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset.

     �Impairment of financial assets 

     �The Group apply forward looking ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, under IFRS 9 to calculate 
impairment. The expected credit loss of a financial instrument is measured in a way that reflects 
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount determined by evaluating range of possible 
outcomes; the time value of money; and past events, current conditions and forecast of future 
economic conditions. The ECL model applies to all financial instruments except investments 
in equity instruments. The methodologies and assumptions including any forecasts of future 
economic conditions are reviewed regularly.

     �The Group recognises ECL for financial assets using the general approach except in case of  trade 
receivables from telecom subscribers and contract assets where the Group is using simplified 
approach.

     �General approach

     �The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring ECL. Assets migrate through the three stages 
based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition. Financial assets with significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but not credit impaired, are transitioned to stage 2 
from stage 1 and ECL is recognized based on the probability of default (PD) of the counter party 
occurring over the life of the asset. All other financial assets are considered to be in stage 1 unless 
it is credit impaired and an ECL is recognized based on the PD of the customer within next 12 
months.  Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when there is a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset.

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2019



65

2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �Stage 1: 12 months ECL 
     �The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL on financial assets where 

there has not been significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition, or on exposures that 
are determined to have a low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset 
to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of 
‘investment grade’.

     �Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired 

     �The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets 
where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit 
impaired. When determining whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly, management considers reasonable and supportable information available, in order 
to compare the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
at initial recognition of the financial instrument.

     �Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired. 

     �A financial asset is considered as credit impaired when there is objective evidence that the amount 
due under the financial asset is uncollectible. The Group considers a financial asset as credit 
impaired if the amount due under the financial instrument is overdue by more than 90 days, 
or if it is known that the counter party has any known difficulties in payment, or the Group has 
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion 
is more appropriate. Lifetime ECL are recognized as the difference between the financial asset’s 
gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

     �Life time ECL is ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. The 12 month ECL is the portion of life time expected credit loss that result from 
default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both life time ECLs 
and 12 month ECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis depending on 
the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

     �ECL is the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and 
Loss Given Default (LGD). The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial 
obligation, either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) 
of the obligation. EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group 
derives the EAD from the current exposure to the financial instruments and potential changes to 
the current amounts allowed under the contract including amortisation.

     �The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. The LGD represents expected loss 
conditional on default, its expected value when realised and the time value of money.

     �Loss allowances for ECL are presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the 
financial assets for AC.
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �Simplified approach

     �The Group applies the simplified approach to recognise lifetime expected credit losses for its trade 
receivables from telecom subscribers and contract assets as permitted by IFRS 9. Accordingly, 
trade receivables from telecom subscribers and contract assets which are not credit impaired and 
which do not have significant financing component are categorised under stage 2 and lifetime 
ECL is recognised.

     �Trade receivables from telecom subscribers and contract assets have been grouped based on 
the shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled 
customer receivables and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables 
from telecom subscribers for the same type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that 
the expected loss rates for contract assets are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the 
trade receivables from telecom subscribers.

�g)  Inventories
     �Inventories are stated at the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value.

�h)  Property and equipment
     �Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses. Cost includes the purchase price and directly associated costs of bringing the 
asset to a working condition for its intended use and the capitalised borrowing cost.

     �Depreciation is calculated based on the estimated useful lives of the applicable assets on a 
straight-line basis commencing when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

     �The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each 
reporting date, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on prospective basis.

�i)   Leases
     �Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

     �The Group as a lessee

     �The Group assesses whether contract is or contains a lease , at inception of the Contract. The Group 
recognizes a right of use asset and a corresponding lease liability on the date on which the lessor makes 
the asset available for use by the Group (the commencement date).  

     �On that date, the Group measures the right of use at cost, which comprises of:
     �·   the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability. 
     �·   any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received 
     �·   any initial direct costs, and 
     �·   �an estimate of costs to be incurred to restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 

terms and conditions of the lease as a consequence of having used the underlying asset during a 
particular period; this is recognised as part of the cost of the right of use asset when the Group incurs 
the obligation for those costs, which may be at the commencement date or as a consequence of 
having used the asset during a particular period.
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the 
lease payments that are not paid at that date. On that date, the lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

     �Lease payments included in measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for 
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement 
date: 

     �·   fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable 
     �·   variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate 
     �·   amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees 
     �·   the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that  option, and 
     �·   �payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that 

option.
     �Payments associated with short term leases and low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line 

basis as an expense in profit or loss.

     �Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore 
the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the 
extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-
use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

     �Subsequent Measurement

     �After the commencement date, the Group measures the right-of-use asset at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term. The Group determines whether a right of use 
asset is impaired and recognizes any impairment loss identified in the statement of income. The 
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

     �The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts 
for an identified impairment loss as described in note 2.12.

     �After the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability by increasing the carrying amount to 
reflect interest on the lease liability and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payment made. 

     �The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use asset) whenever: 

     �·   �The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is 
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

     �·   �A change in lease payments due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due 
to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

     �·   �A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and the finance cost. The finance cost is 
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The constant periodic rate of interest is 
the discount rate used at the initial measurement of lease liability.

     �For a contracts that contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone 
price of the non-lease components.

     �Where the Group is the lessor

     �Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases as the case may 
be. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases.

     �Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

     �When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Company applies IFRS 15 to 
allocate consideration under the contract to each component.

     �Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

     �Where the Group is the lessee

     �Operating leases 
     �Leases of property and equipment under which, all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively 

retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease.

     �Finance leases
     �Leases of property and equipment where the Group assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are recognized as assets in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at the estimated present value of the related lease payments. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance charge so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the liability outstanding.

�j)   Intangible assets
     �Identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance acquired in connection with the 

business and from which future benefits are expected to flow are treated as intangible assets. 
Intangible assets consist of telecom license fees paid by the subsidiaries, brand name, customer 
relationships, concession arrangements, softwares and goodwill arising on the acquisition of 
subsidiaries. Intangible assets with definite useful lives 

     �are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes the purchase cost and directly associated costs of being the asset for its intended use. 

     �The telecom license fee, brand name, customer relationships and concession intangible assets 
are being amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. The estimated useful lives and 
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �Goodwill is not amortised, but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and is not subsequently 
reversed. On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

�k)   Provisions
     �Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where there are a number of 
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole.

     �The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at the financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

�l)   Impairment of non-financial assets
     �The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets other than deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested 
annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or 
cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount.

     �The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
the present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Subject to 
an operating segment ceiling test, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so 
that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill 
is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to groups at CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

     �Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the 
other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro-rata basis.

     �An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2019



70

2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

�m)   Provision for staff indemnity
     �The provision for staff indemnity is payable on completion of employment. The provision is calculated 

in accordance with applicable labour law based on employees’ salaries and accumulated periods of 
service or on the basis of employment contracts, where such contracts provide extra benefits. 

     �With respect to its Kuwaiti employees, the Group makes contributions to Public Institution for Social 
Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to 
these 

     �contributions, which are expensed when due. The Group expects this method to produce a reliable 
approximation of the present value of the obligations.

�n)   Treasury shares
     �The cost of the Company’s own shares purchased, including directly attributable costs, is classified 

under equity. Gains or losses arising on sale are separately disclosed under shareholders’ equity and 
these amounts are not available for distribution. These shares are not entitled to cash dividends. The 
issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average 
cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

�o)   Revenue
     �The Group principally obtains revenue from providing telecommunication services comprising 

access charges, airtime usage, messaging, interconnect fee, data services and infrastructure 
provision, connection fees, equipment sales and other related services.

     �The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a 
promised good or service to a customer. The good or service is transferred when the customer 
obtains the control of good or service. The timing of the transfer of control of good or service, at 
point in time or over time, should be determined to recognise revenue. Accordingly, the specific 
revenue recognition criteria applied to significant elements of revenue is set out below:

     �Handsets and telecommunications services 

     �Revenue from mobile telecommunications services provided to postpaid and prepaid customers 
is recognised as and when services are transferred. If the customer performs first, for example, by 
prepaying its promised consideration, the Group has a contract liability. If the Group performs first 
by satisfying a performance obligation, the Group has a contract asset. Consideration received 
from the sale of prepaid credit is recognised as a contract liability until such time the customer 
uses the services, when it is recognised as revenue.

     �The Group may provide handsets to its customers along with the mobile telecommunication 
services. In such cases, it allocates the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation 
based on their relative stand-alone selling price. The standalone selling prices are determined 
based on observable prices.

     �The Group recognises the revenue from handset as point in time and the related revenue 
from mobile telecommunication services as point over time. Contract asset on these types of 
arrangements are recognised when performance obligation are satisfied over time (i.e. a receivable 
arising from the customer contract that has not yet legally come into existence). 

     �If a customer has the option to pay for the equipment or services over a period, IFRS 15 requires 
judgement to determine if the contract includes a significant financing component. If it does, then 
the transaction price is adjusted to reflect the time value of money.

NATIONAL MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2019



71

2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �Revenue from transit services & other value added services

     �The Group determines whether it will be acting as a principal or an agent on these types of 
arrangements and accordingly recognises gross revenue if it is a principal, and net revenue if it is 
an agent.

     �Customer loyalty schemes

     �The Group operates a customer loyalty program that provides a variety of benefits for customers.  
The Group allocates the consideration received between products and services in a bundle 
including loyalty points as separate performance obligation based on their stand-alone selling 
prices.

     �Connection fees 

     �The Group recognises connection fee charged for the activation of services over the contract period. 
However, if connection fees relate at or near contract inception to fulfill that contract, then the 
Group recognises revenue as and when services are provided (i.e. as the identified performance 
obligations are satisfied).

     �Interconnection and roaming revenue

     �Revenue from interconnection and roaming services provided to other telecom operators are 
recognised based on satisfaction of performance obligations and by applying contractual rates 
net of estimated discounts.

     �Commissions and other contract costs 

     �Certain incremental costs incurred in acquiring a contract with a customer is deferred on the 
consolidated statement of financial position and amortised as revenue is recognised under the 
related contract; this will generally lead to the later recognition of charges for some commissions 
payable to third party dealers and employees. 

     �Intermediaries are given incentives by the Group to acquire new customers and upgrade existing 
customers. Activation commission and renewal commission paid on post-paid connections are 
amortized over the period of the contract. However, the Group may choose to expense such 
commission costs if the amortization period of the resulting asset is one year or less or if it is not 
significant. In case of prepaid customers, commission costs are expensed when incurred.

     �Other income

     �Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective yield method and 
dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

p)  Taxation
     �Certain subsidiaries in foreign jurisdiction are subject to taxes on income. Income tax expense represents 

the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
     �Current tax

     �The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss  because it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the financial position date. A provision is recognised for those matters for which 
the tax determination is 

     �uncertain but it is considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. 
The provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The 
assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within the Group supported by previous 
experience in respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.

     �Deferred tax

     �Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements of the relevant subsidiaries and the corresponding 
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax 
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

     �Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or 
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

     �The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each financial position date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow 
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

     �Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the financial position date. The measurement of 
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 
in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. 

     �Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis.
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2.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (Continued)

     �q)  Zakat, KFAS and NLST
     �Zakat, Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) and National 

Labour Support Tax (NLST) represent levies/taxes imposed on the Company at the flat percentage 
of net profits attributable to the Company less permitted deductions under the prevalent 
respective fiscal regulations of the State of Kuwait.

Tax / statutory levy Rate

Contribution to KFAS 1.0% of net profit less permitted deductions

NLST 2.5% of net profit less permitted deductions

Zakat 1.0% of net profit less permitted deductions

r) Contingencies
     �Contingent assets are not recognized as an asset until realisation becomes virtually certain. Contingent 

liabilities, other than those arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, are not recognized as a liability unless 
as a result of past events it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle a 
present, legal or constructive obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities 
arising in a business combination are recognized if their fair value can be measured reliably.

3-  Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

     �Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

     �The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that 
management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

     �Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of equipment and mobile telecommunications 
services

     �The Group provides mobile telecommunications services that are either sold separately or bundled 
together with the sale of equipment (handsets) to a customer. The Group determined that both the 
equipment and services are capable of being distinct. The fact that the Group regularly sells both 
equipment and services on a stand-alone basis indicates that the customer can benefit from both 
products on their own. 

     �Consequently, the Group allocated a portion of the transaction price to the equipment and the services 
based on relative stand-alone selling prices.

     �Principal versus agent considerations 

     �Revenue from value added services (VAS) sharing arrangements; transit services; and customer loyalty 
schemes depend on the analysis of the facts and circumstances surrounding these transactions. The 
Group determines whether it is an agent or principal in these contracts based on the below facts, whether:

     �·   The Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the service. 
     �·   The Group has inventory risk.
     �·   The Group has discretion in establishing the price.
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3.  Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

     �Fair values - unquoted equity investments and business combinations 

     �valuation techniques for unquoted equity investments and identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities arising in a business combination make use of estimates such as future cash 
flows, discount factors, yield curves, current market prices adjusted for market, credit and model 
risks and related costs and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants 
where appropriate.

     �Contingent liabilities

     �Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities that arise from past events whose existence will 
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the entity. Provisions for liabilities are recorded when a loss is 
considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. The determination of whether or not a 
provision should be recorded for any potential liabilities or litigation is based on management’s 
judgment.

     �Key sources of estimation uncertainty

     �The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

     �Impairment of non-financial assets and useful lives

     �The Group’s management tests annually whether non-financial assets have suffered impairment 
in accordance with the accounting policies stated in note 2. The recoverable amount of an asset 
is determined based on value-in-use method. This method uses estimated cash flow projections 
over the estimated useful life of the asset discounted using market rates.

     �The Group’s management determines the useful lives and the related depreciation and amortisation 
charge. 

     �The depreciation and amortisation charge for the year will change significantly if actual life is 
different from the estimated useful life of the asset.

     �Impairment of goodwill

     �Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the 
entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 

     �The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 10 years and do not include restructuring 
activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance 
the asset base of the cash generating unit being tested, but do include the Group’s expectation 
of future capital expenditure necessary to maintain the Group’s existing operations. The input 
factors most sensitive to change are management estimates of future cash flows based on 
budgets, growth rates and discount rate. Further details on these assumptions are disclosed in 
note 5 along with the related sensitivities.

     �Significant increase in credit risk

     �ECLs are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for 
stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. 
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into 
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.
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3.  Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

     �Calculation of loss allowance

     �When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, 
which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how 
these drivers will affect each other. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It 
is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would 
expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

     �Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate 
of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical 
data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

     �Any difference between the amounts actually collected in future periods and the amounts expected 
will be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

     �Determining the lease term

     �In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create 
an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. 
Extension and termination options are included in a number of leases across the Group. These 
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority 
of the termination options held are exercisable both by the Group and the respective lessor. 
Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if 
the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).The assessment is reviewed if 
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment 
and that is within the control of the lessee. 

     �Discounting of lease payments

     �The lease payments are discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”). 
Management has applied judgments and estimates to determine the IBR at the commencement 
of lease.

     �Impairment of inventories

     �Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old 
or obsolete, an estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts 
this estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, 
but which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the 
inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on historical selling prices. 

     �Taxes

     �The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period 
in which such determination is made.
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4.  Right of use assets

Land and 
buildings

Exchange 
and network 

assets

Subscriber 
apparatus and 

other equip-
ment Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2019 20,320  112,895 2,557 135,772

Additions 5,856 18,092  1,223 25,171

Disposals (258) (705)  (112)  (1,075)

Currency translation effects 322 1,624 55 2,001

Balance at 31 December 2019 26,240 131,906 3,723 161,869

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2019 4,719 9,352 692 14,763

Transfers  -    -    -    -   

Charge for the year  3,766 16,936  1,706 22,408

Related to disposals (102)  (184)  (110) (396)

Currency translation effects  126 606 55 787

Balance at 31 December 2019 8,509 26,710 2,343  37,562

Carrying amounts:

At 31 December 2019  17,731 105,196 1,380 124,307

     �Amounts recognised in profit and loss

31 December 
2019

KD 000’s

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets  (22,408)

Interest expense on lease liabilities (6,656)

Expense relating to short-term leases (1,128)

Expense relating to leases of low value assets  (111)

Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of 
the lease liability (126)
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5.  Property and equipment

Land and 
buildings

Exchange 
and network 

assets

Subscriber 
apparatus 
and other 

equipment

Capital 
work-in 

progress
Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2018 63,268 1,044,514 141,112 57,059 1,305,953

Transfers 424 34,303 5,623 (39,650) 700

Additions 2,161 34,225 3,053 46,185 85,624

Disposals (746) (12,484) (3,370) - (16,600)

Currency translation effects (1,591) (55,744) (4,382) (2,228) (63,945)

Balance at 31 December 2018 63,516 1,044,814 142,036 61,366 1,311,732

Impact on adoption of IFRS 16  (424) (5,630) (633)  -   (6,687)

Restated Balance as at 1 
January 2019  63,092 1,039,184 141,403  61,366 1,305,045

Transfers  82  26,201  3,989  (30,414)  (142)

Additions  746  36,172  1,733  56,834  95,485 

Disposals  749  (2,827)  (1,144)  (1)  (3,223)

Currency translation effects  150 10,311 815  (88) 11,188

Balance at 31 December 2019  64,819  1,109,041  146,796  87,697  1,408,353 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

Balance at 1 January 2018 25,596 608,157 108,645 - 742,398

Transfers - 1,322 (624) - 698

Charge for the year 4,160 94,411 13,350 - 111,921

Related to disposals (96) (10,595) (3,151) - (13,842)

Currency translation effects (1,089) (39,027) (3,952) - (44,068)

Balance at 31 December 2018 28,571 654,268 114,268 - 797,107

Impact on adoption of IFRS 16  (297) (1,534) (593)  -   (2,424)

Restated Balance as at 1 
January 2019  28,274 652,734 113,675  -   794,683

Transfers  (4)  -    -    -    (4)

Charge for the year  4,194  91,352  10,430  -    105,976

Related to disposals (468)  (2,132)  (986)  -    (3,586)

Currency translation effects  127 8,079 749  -   8,955

Balance at 31 December 2019  32,123  750,033  123,868  -    906,024 

Carrying amounts:

At 31 December 2018  34,945  390,546  27,768  61,366  514,625 

At 31 December 2019  32,696  359,008  22,928  87,697  502,329 

Annual depreciation rates 3%-33% 7%-33% 10%-50%
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6.  Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill
License and 

other intangible 
assets

Brand 
names Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018 197,720 423,976 9,836 631,532
Transfers - (700) - (700)
Additions - 3,930 - 3,930
Disposals - (2,293) - (2,293)
Currency translation effects (36,076) (36,582) (1,814) (74,472)
Balance at 31 December 2018 161,644 388,331 8,022 557,997
Transfers  -    41  -    41 
Additions  -    5,743  -    5,743 
Currency translation effects  10,926  9,445  591  20,962 
Balance at 31 December 2019  172,570  403,560  8,613  584,743 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2018 13,756 218,559 9,836  242,151
Transfers - (698) - (698)
Charge for the year - 25,554 - 25,554
Disposals - (2,040) - (2,040)
Currency translation effects (2,515) (14,893) (1,814) (19,222)
Balance at 31 December 2018 11,241 226,482 8,022 245,745
Transfers - 41 - 41
Charge for the year - 19,475 - 19,475
Currency translation effects - 3,183 591 3,774
Balance at 31 December 2019 11,241 249,181 8,613 269,035

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2018  150,403 161,849 - 312,252 
At 31 December 2019  161,329  154,379 -  315,708 
Amortisation rate - 5%-33% 16.67%

     �Goodwill of KD 159,402 thousand (2018: 148,476) is allocated to Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. and KD 1,927 
thousand (2018: KD 1,927 thousand) to Fast Telecommunications Company W.L.L., which are the 
Group’s cash generating units (CGUs). 

     �The recoverable amount of these CGUs was based on its value in use estimated by discounting the 
future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGUs.

     �The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:

2019 2018

% %

Discount rate 10%-12% 10%-13%
Growth Rate – Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. 4% 5%
Growth Rate – Fast Telecommunications Company W.L.L. 7% 8%

    �The estimated recoverable amounts of Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. and Fast Telecommunications Company 
W.L.L were more than the respective carrying values.
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6.  Intangible assets and goodwill (Continued)

     �The Group has also performed a sensitivity analysis by varying these input factors by a reasonable 
possible margin. Based on such analysis, there are no indications that Goodwill is impaired 
considering the level of judgements and estimations used. 

7.  Investment Securities

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Unlisted equity securities 2,088 2,653

2,088 2,653

     �Movement in Investment securities is as follows:

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Balance at beginning of the year 2,653 6,695

Impact on adoption of IFRS 9 - (2,058)

Restated Balance as at 1 January 2,653 4,637

Fair value changes (565) (1,984)

Balance at end of the year 2,088 2,653

     �At 31 December 2019, investment securities amounting to KD 2,074 thousand (2018: KD 2,638 
thousand) are denominated in Kuwaiti Dinars and the remaining in US Dollars.

8.  Taxation

     �The Company is not subject to corporate income tax in the State of Kuwait. However, the Group is subject 
to tax in its subsidiaries’ operation under various tax jurisdictions. The income tax represents amounts 
recognised by subsidiary companies. The major components of the income tax expense are as follows:

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Current tax

Current income tax charge 18,248 20,559

Adjustment in respect of previous year income tax - -

18,248 20,559

Deferred tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,803) (1,952)

Income tax included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 16,445 18,607
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8.  Taxation (Continued)

     �The effective tax rate applicable to the taxable subsidiary companies is 26.81% (2018: 29.97%). For 
the purpose of determining the taxable results for the year, the accounting profit of the subsidiaries is 
adjusted for tax purposes. Adjustments for tax purposes included items relating to both income and 
expense. The adjustments are based on the current understanding of the existing laws, regulations and 
practices in each subsidiary’s jurisdiction. In view of the operations of the Group being subject to various 
tax jurisdictions and regulations, it is not practical to provide a detailed reconciliation between accounting 
and taxable profits together with the details of the effective tax rates. As a result, the reconciliation below 
includes only the identifiable major reconciling items. The reconciliation between tax expense and the 
product of accounting profit multiplied by the Group’s effective tax rate is as follows:

2019 2018
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Profit before taxation in consolidated statement of profit or loss 51,199 53,550
Profit of the Company and its subsidiaries that are not subject to corporate income tax (7,014) (4,246)
Profit of subsidiaries that are subject to corporate income tax 44,185 49,304
Add:
Allowances, accruals and other temporary differences 8,834 14,172
Expenses and income that are not subject to corporate tax 4,720 3,592
Depreciation – net 10,316 1,535
Taxable profit of subsidiaries that are subject to corporate income tax 68,055 68,603
Current income tax charge at the effective income tax rate of 26.81%  (2018: 29.97%) 18,248 20,559
Current income tax charge 18,248 20,559

     �Deferred tax 

     �The deferred tax asset of KD 27,035 thousand as at  31 December 2019 (2018: KD 22,730 thousand)  
has been recognised on account of allowances, accruals and other temporary differences in 
Wataniya Telecom Algerie S.P.A., Ooredoo Maldives Public Limited Company and Ooredoo Tunisie 
S.A.

     �Movement in deferred tax asset during the year:

2019 2018
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Opening balance 22,730 22,225
Impact on adoption of IFRS 16 2,482 -
Impact on adoption of IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 - (893)
Restated opening balance 25,212 21,332
Benefit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 1,803 1,952
Foreign exchange differences 20 (554)
Closing balance 27,035 22,730

     Movement in income tax payable during the year:

2019 2018
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Opening balance 16,897 22,746
Provided during the year 18,248 20,559
Paid during the year (22,979) (24,470)
Foreign exchange differences 246 (1,938)
Closing balance 12,412 16,897
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9.  Trade and other receivables

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Trade and billing receivables 174,090 155,175

Unbilled revenue  39,579 43,868

Advances and prepayments 24,872 40,460

Other receivables  11,914 12,893

250,455  252,396

Less: Expected credit loss (86,621) (78,079)

 163,834 174,317

     �The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group’s provision risk matrix. 
The Group classifies customers into different categories based on their credit risk characteristics and the 
days past due. Accordingly, the threshold for recognizing the credit impairment will vary from past dues 
of 90 days to 365 days, depending on the category of the customer.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Ageing buckets

Estimated 
total gross 

carrying 
amount at 

default

Expected 
credit loss 

rate

Lifetime 
ECL

Estimated 
total gross 

carrying 
amount at 

default

Expected 
credit loss 

rate

Lifetime 
ECL

KD 000’s % KD 000’s KD 000’s % KD 000’s

< 30 days 52,919 4.89% 2,586 89,470 5.62% 5,029
31 – 60 days 8,415 11.52% 969 6,270 15.07% 945
61 – 90 days 6,317 15.04% 950  5,576 19.76% 1,102
> 90 days 146,018 56.24% 82,116 97,727     72.65% 71,003

213,669 86,621 199,043 78,079
    

 �   �The estimated fair value of trade receivables at the reporting date is not significantly different from 
their carrying value.

     �Movement in the Expected credit loss is as follows:

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Balance at beginning of the year 78,079 74,097
Impact on adoption of IFRS 9 - 802
Restated Balance at 1 January 78,079 74,899
Charge for the year 8,335 10,155
Amounts written off as uncollectible (331) (484)
Amount of impairment allowance reversed - (4,312)
Foreign exchange differences 538 (2,179)
Balance at end of the year 86,621 78,079
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10.  Deferred contract cost and contract assets

2019 2018
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Contract assets 6,639 5,846
Less: Expected credit loss  (359) (331)
Contract assets (net of impairment allowance)  6,280 5,515

Contract cost   8,447   8,127
  14,727 13,642

 Non-current   7,517   6,229 
Current   7,210  7,413 

     Movement in the expected credit loss is as follows:

2019 2018
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Balance at beginning of the year 331 -
Impact on adoption of IFRS 9 - 264
Charge for the year 28 67
Balance at end of the year 359 331

     �The following table details the risk profile of contract assets balances based on the Group’s 
provision matrix.

2019 2018

Expected credit loss rate 5.41% 5.66%

Total gross carrying amount at default (in KD 000’s) 6,639 5,846

Lifetime ECL 359 331

11.  Bank balances and cash

2019 2018
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cash and bank balances  38,392 57,522
Deposits  52,088 34,606
Total Cash and bank balances before impairment allowance  90,480 92,128
Expected credit loss  (21) (25)
Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position  90,459 92,103
Deposits with original maturities of three months or more  (30,043) (14,927)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows  60,416 77,176

     �The effective interest rate on interest-earning deposits ranged from 1.21% to 12.75 % (2018: 0.52 
% to 12.52 %) per annum.

     �Included in deposits with original maturities of three months or more is an amount of KD 12,617 
thousand (2018: KD 7,935 thousand) which is restricted in accordance with obligations entered 
into by a Subsidiary and the Company.
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12.  Equity

a)    Share capital
       �The authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital as at 31 December 2019 consists of  

504,033 thousand shares (2018: 504,033 thousand shares) of 100 fils each, contributed in cash.

b)   Treasury shares

2019 2018

Number of shares (000’s) 2,871 2,871
Percentage of issued shares 0.57% 0.57%
Cost (KD 000’s) 3,598 3,598
Market value (KD 000’s) 2,377 2,050

c)   Statutory reserve
       �In accordance with the Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, as amended, 

10% of profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat 
and Directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to a statutory reserve until the reserve 
exceeds 50% of the paid up share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution except for 
the amount in excess of 50% of share capital or for payment of a dividend of 5% of paid up share 
capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of such dividends. 

       �The Company has discontinued further transfers to statutory reserve as it has exceeded 50% of 
the authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital.

d)   Voluntary reserve
       �In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of profit for the year attributable to 

shareholders of the Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Directors’ remuneration is required 
to be transferred to the voluntary reserve until the shareholders decide to discontinue the 
transfer to the voluntary reserve. During the current year, an amount of KD 3,215 thousand has 
been transferred to voluntary reserve (2018: KD 3,201 thousand). There are no restrictions on 
distributions from the voluntary reserve.

e)   Dividends
       �The Annual General Assembly of the Company, held on 14 March 2019, approved the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the payment of cash 
dividend of 50 fils per share for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: cash dividend of 70 fils 
per share) to the Company’s shareholders existing as at 3 April 2019.

       �The Board of Directors proposed a cash dividend of 50 fils per share for the year ended 31 December 
2019 (2018: 50 fils per share). This proposal is subject to the approval of the shareholders in 
the Annual General Assembly and has not been accounted for in these consolidated financial 
statements.
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12.  Equity (Continued)

f)     Other reserves

Share 
premium

Statutory 
reserve

Voluntary   
     reserve

Gain on 
sale of 

treasury 
shares

Fair value 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Total 
reserves

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Balance at 1 January 2018 66,634 32,200 129,887 6,914 526 3,412 239,573
Impact on adoption of 
IFRS 9 & 15 - - - - (771) - (771)

Restated balance 
at 1 January 2018 66,634 32,200 129,887 6,914 (245) 3,412 238,802

Comprehensive income - - - - (1,984) - (1,984)
Other comprehensive 
loss for the year - - 3,201 - - - 3,201

Balance at 31 December 2018 66,634 32,200 133,088 6,914 (2,229) 3,412 240,019
Balance at 1 January 2019 66,634 32,200 133,088 6,914 (2,229) 3,412 240,019
Other comprehensive 
income for the year - - - - (565) - (565)

Transfer to voluntary reserve - - 3,215 - - - 3,215
Balance at 31 December 2019 66,634 32,200 136,303 6,914 (2,794) 3,412 242,669

13.  Lease liabilities

2019

KD 000’s

At beginning of year -

Initial application of IFRS 16 122,319

Additions during the year 25,171

Interest expense on lease liability 6,656

 Payment of lease liabilities including interest )28,827(

Reduction on early termination )692(

Exchange adjustments 1,544

 Closing balance as at 31 December 2019 126,171

Current 15,463 

Non-current 110,708

126,171

     �The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities 
are monitored within the Group’s treasury function.
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14.  Long term debts

Current Non-current
2019 2018 2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Due to local banks  36,000 57,100  - -
Due to local banks related to subsidiaries  42,356 36,094  28,112 34,037

 78,356 93,194  28,112 34,037

     The comparative fair value and carrying value of the Group’s long term debts are as follow:

Carrying amounts Fair values
2019 2018 2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Fixed rates  14,954 21,133  14,954 21,349
Floating rates  91,514 106,098  92,690 107,037

 106,468 127,231  107,644 128,386

     The details of long term debts are as follows:

Description 2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

a) Unsecured debts from banks in Algeria not subject to any financial covenants. These 
debts carry an effective interest rates of 4.3% per annum (2018: 5.3%). These debts 
are maturing on September 2020. These are denominated in Algerian Dinar.

24,326 20,367

b) Debts secured against Wataniya Palestine Mobile Telecom Limited’s fixed assets 
from banks in Palestine. These debts carry an effective interest rate of -5.3% (2018: 
5.8%) and are repayable in quarterly installments commencing 15 December 2019 
and ending July 2024. These are denominated in US Dollar.

11,550 15,174

c) Unsecured debts of the Company from banks in Kuwait which are subject to certain 
financial covenants over the terms of those debts. These debts carry an effective 
interest rates of 3.4% per annum (2018: 4.3%). These are denominated in Kuwait 
Dinar.

36,000 57,100

d) Unsecured debts of Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. from banks in Tunisia which are subject 
to certain financial covenants to be complied on an annual basis. These debts 
bears an effective interest rate of 9.3% per annum (2018 : 8.2%). The instalments 
of principal and interest are payable quarterly. The first instalment of principal 
was paid in September 2014, the first instalment of interest was paid in December 
2013. The last instalments of principal and interest are payable on 20 December 
2022.

28,512 29,599

e) Secured debts from banks in Maldives against fixed deposits of Ooredoo Maldives 
PLC. These loans carry an effective interest rate of 6.9% (2018: 7.9%). These debts 
are repayable within the range of 12-30 monthly instalments respectively with 
accrued interest. These are denominated in US Dollar.

6,080 4,991

106,468 127,231
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15.  Trade and other payables

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Accruals  164,929 132,260

Trade payables 64,301 96,469

Other tax payable  9,497 9,998

Staff payable  10,339 10,915

Dividends payable  6,160 6,231

Other payables 18,214 19,249

273,440 275,122

     �The Group has adequate financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables 
are paid within the specified credit time frame (note 25).

16.  Revenue

     �The total revenue disaggregated by major service lines is:

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Revenue from rendering of telecommunications services 563,368 574,208

Revenue from sale of telecommunications equipment 69,531 90,527

Others 594 298

633,493 665,033

     �The total revenue disaggregated by primary geographical market and timing of revenue recognition 
is disclosed in Note 23.  Deferred revenue of prior year is mostly recognized in the current year. 

17.  Selling, general and administration expenses

     �This includes impairment on financial assets of KD 8,359 thousand (2018: KD 9,925 thousand).  

18.  Finance costs - net

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Interest income  2,085 1,404

Finance costs (7,280) (8,740)

Interest expenses relating to lease liabilities (6,656) -

(11,851) (7,336)
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19.  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

        Significant subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Country of 

incorporation
Voting capital 

held
Voting capital 

held

2019 2018

Wataniya Telecom Algerie S.P.A. (WTA) Algeria 71% 71%

Wataniya International FZ – L.L.C. (WTI) U.A.E 100% 100%

Ooredoo Maldives Public Limited Company (WTM) 
(subsidiary of  WTI) Maldives

90.50% 90.50%

WARF Telecom International Private Limited (WARF) 
(subsidiary of WTM)

Maldives 65% 65%

Wataniya Palestine Mobile Telecom Limited (WPT) 
(subsidiary of WTI)

Palestine 49.26% 49.26%

Phono General Trading and Contracting Company WLL Kuwait 99% 99%

Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. Tunisia 75% 75%

Ooredoo Consortium Limited Malta 100% 100%

Ooredoo Tunisia Holding Limited Malta 100% 100%

Fast Telecommunications Company W.L.L. Kuwait 99% 99%

       �The following table summarizes the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has 
material non-controlling interests (NCI), before any intra-group eliminations:

WTA WPT
Ooredoo

Tunisie S.A.

31 December 2019 KD’000’s KD’000’s KD’000’s

Non-current assets 317,290  59,415  114,085 

Current assets 54,672  12,658  62,022 

Non-current liabilities (33,183) (26,983)  (40,806)

Current liabilities (151,033) (15,994)  (77,196)

Net assets 187,746 29,096  58,105 

Carrying amount of NCI 54,446 14,762  14,526 

Revenue 208,663 30,209 123,136

Profit and total comprehensive income  4,107 341 12,303

Profit allocated to NCI 1,191 173 3,076

Cash flows from operating activities 68,116 7,690  44,437 

Cash flows from / (used in)  investing activities 48,271 (3,954)  (24,207)

Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities 8,112 (4,660)  (9,833)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 124,499 (924)  10,397 
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19.  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued) 

WTA WPT
Ooredoo

Tunisie S.A.

31 December 2018 KD’000’s KD’000’s KD’000’s

Non-current assets 283,258 61,435 98,051
Current assets 75,761 14,901 38,522
Non-current liabilities - (30,023) (19,737)
Current liabilities (155,824) (17,139) (65,270)
Net assets 203,195 29,174 51,566
Carrying amount of NCI 58,926 14,802 12,892
Revenue 228,930 30,337 126,605

Profit and total comprehensive income 11,933 40 6,948

Profit allocated to NCI 3,461 11 1,737

Cash flows from operating activities 67,312 13,121 31,548
Cash flows used in  investing activities (48,269) (9,941) (16,682)
Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities 13,873 (4,946) (11,556)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 32,916 (1,766) 3,310

20.  Provision for contribution to KFAS, NLST and Zakat

2019 2018
KD 000’s KD 000’s

KFAS (322) (321)
NLST (762) (1,037)
Zakat   (304) (286)

(1,388) (1,644)

21.  Basic and diluted earnings per share

       �Earnings per share attributable to shareholders of the Company is computed by dividing the 
profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the year less treasury shares as follows:

2019 2018

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company (KD 000’s)  30,127 29,709

Number of shares outstanding
Weighted average number of paid up shares (000’s)  504,033 504,033
Weighted average number of treasury shares (000’s)  (2,871) (2,871)
Weighted average number of outstanding shares (000’s)  501,162 501,162
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to shareholders of 
the Company (fils) 60                  59

       �There are no potential dilutive shares as at 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).
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22.  Related party transactions and balances

       �Related parties represent major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of 
the Group and entities controlled, controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing 
policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Transactions 
between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties to the Company, have been 
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Balances and transactions with 
related parties are as follows:

As at 31 December
2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s
a)	 Balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position

Payable to Ooredoo Group L.L.C – fellow subsidiary 11,547 23,656
Payable to Ooredoo IP L.L.C – fellow subsidiary 1,254 4,655
Payable to Ooredoo Oman – fellow subsidiary 6 17

Receivable from ultimate parent company 2,651 349
Receivable from Asiacell Communications PJSC  - fellow subsidiary 358 264
Receivable from PT. Indosat Tbk – fellow subsidiary 11 -

Year ended
31 December

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s
b) Transactions included in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss  within revenue and operating expenses

Revenue from:
Ultimate parent company 5,477 12,406
Asiacell Communications PJSC  - fellow subsidiary 132 127
Omani Qatari Telecommunications Company S.A.O.G. - fellow subsidiary 3 8

Operating expenses to:
Ultimate parent company 2,076 2,508
Asiacell Communications PJSC  - fellow subsidiary 21 16
PT. Indosat Tbk – fellow subsidiary 3 9
Omani Qatari Telecommunications Company S.A.O.G. - fellow subsidiary 9 -

c) Transactions included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss  within selling, general and administrative expenses

Management fees to Ooredoo Group L.L.C – fellow subsidiary 13,774 13,626
Brand license fees to Ooredoo IP L.L.C - fellow subsidiary 3,999 4,074

d) Compensation of key management personnel:

Short term benefits  6,635 7,083
Termination benefits  600 520

 7,235 7,603

       �During the year, the Group has entered into transactions with related parties on terms approved by the 
management.
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23.  Operating segments

        �The Company and its subsidiaries operate in a single business segment, telecommunications 
and related services. Apart from its operations in Kuwait, the Company also operates through 
its foreign subsidiaries in Algeria, Tunisia, Maldives and Palestine . This forms the basis of the 
geographical segments. 

        �Based on the disclosure criterion, the Group has identified its telecommunications operations 
in Kuwait, Algeria, Tunisia, Maldives and Palestine as the basis for disclosing the segment 
information.

        �Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the 
Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, the Group Chief 
Financial Officer, in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 

        �The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting 
polices described in note 2. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without 
investment revenue, finance costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to 
the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of 
segment performance.

        �For the purpose of monitoring performance and allocating resources between segments:

        �·   �Goodwill is allocated to each reportable segment as applicable. There are no assets used jointly by 
any reportable segment.

        �·   There are no liabilities for which any segment is jointly liable.
        �Although certain segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds required by IFRS 8, 

management has concluded that these segments should be reported, as they are closely 
monitored as a potential growth region and are expected to materially contribute to Group 
revenue in the future.

        �The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from telecommunications 
services.
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23.  Operating segments (Continued)

Outside Kuwait
Inside 

Kuwait Tunisia Algeria Maldives Others Un-allocated Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
31 December 2019
Segment revenues 
– Point over Time  175,651  114,385  204,678  39,098  30,150  - 563,962

Segment revenues 
– Point in Time

 55,681  8,751  3,985  1,054  60  -  69,531 

Segment revenues 231,332  123,136  208,663  40,152  30,210  - 633,493
Profit/(loss) 13,296  12,303  4,107  11,802 (687)  (6,072) 34,749

Segment assets 364,638  173,383 348,181  60,159  72,579  222,015 1,240,955
Investments and 
other assets

 2,088  2,724 23,780 531  -  - 29,123

Total assets 366,726  176,107 371,961  60,690  72,579  222,015 1,270,078

Segment liabilities 178,709  89,490 159,889 15,073 31,783  - 474,944

Debt and other 
obligations

 45,843  28,512  24,326  6,080 13,623  - 118,384

Total liabilities 224,552  118,002 184,215 21,153 45,406  - 593,328

Other information

Purchase of 
property and 
equipment 

 28,665  15,311  45,328  3,965  2,216  -  95,485 

Acquisition of 
intangible assets  1,699  135  2,999  633  277  -  5,743 

Depreciation 
and impairment 
of property and 
equipment

 (29,273)  (21,473)  (47,412)  (3,826) (3,992)  - (105,976)

Amortisation of 
intangible assets  (763)  (3,027)  (5,682)  (845)  (3,086)  (6,072)  (19,475)

Depreciation of 
right of use assets  (10,120)  (2,050) (8,928)  (601) (709)  - (22,408)

Provision for staff 
indemnity  (1,700)  -  (82)  -  (370)  -  (2,152)
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23.  Operating segments (Continued)

Outside Kuwait

Inside 
Kuwait Tunisia Algeria Maldives Others Un-allocated Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

31 December 2018

Segment revenues – 
Point over Time 164,966  118,365  224,932 36,467  29,776 - 574,506

Segment revenues – 
Point in Time 75,967    8,240 3,998 1,761 561 - 90,527

Segment revenues 240,933 126,605 228,930 38,228 30,337 - 665,033

Profit / (loss) 12,962 6,948 11,933 10,670 (1,033) (6,537) 34,943

Segment assets 307,852 136,074 337,263 64,201 76,349 214,385 1,136,124

Investments and 
other assets 2,652 499 21,755 476 - - 25,382

Total assets 310,504 136,573 359,018 64,677 76,349 214,385 1,161,506

Segment liabilities 122,522 47,391 135,457 19,171 36,477 - 361,018

Debt and other 
obligations 65,858 29,599 20,368 4,992 17,165 - 137,982

Total liabilities 188,380 76,990 155,825 24,163 53,642 - 499,000

Other information

Purchase of property 
and equipment 23,299 13,061 42,511 3,433 3,320 - 85,624

Acquisition of 
intangible assets 394   443 2,758 237 98 - 3,930

Depreciation 
and impairment 
of property and 
equipment

(29,117) (24,384) (50,004) (4,310) (4,106) - (111,921)

Amortisation of 
intangible assets (650) (3,317) (10,980) (837) (3,233) (6,537) (25,554)

Provision for staff 
indemnity (1,597) - (40) - (355) - (1,992)
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24.  Contingencies and Commitments

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s 

a)	 capital commitments

For the acquisition of property and equipment 44,374 55,236

For the acquisition of mobile license in a subsidiary  51,236 51,322

95,610 106,558

b)	 contingent liabilities

Letters of guarantee  3,681 2,490

Letters of credit  8,514 13,325

12,195 15,815

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS :

A.   �Additional tax claims amounting to KD 14,189 thousand on Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. for assessment 
periods 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2017 from tax authorities in Tunisia. Management has 
responded to this notification and believes that the prospects of these claims being resolved in 
the Group’s favour are good.

B.   �Additional tax claims amounting to KD 4,742 thousand on Wataniya Telecom Algerie S.P.A. for 
assessment periods 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2016 from tax authorities in Algeria.

C.   �In October 2019, the Court of Appeals has decided against WTA in respect of certain alleged foreign 
currency violations raised by Algerian Central Bank. The penalty decided by the Court of Appeals 
against WTA is KD 28,479 thousand. The final written order of the Court of Appeals is yet to be received. 
WTA has decided to appeal against this decision in the Court of Cassation.

D.   �In October 2019, a third party vendor of WTA obtained an order from the Judicial Authorities of Algeria 
to block and amount of KD 2,433 thousand from WTA’s bank account. WTA appealed to the Court 
against this.

E.   �Claims against Ooredoo Maldives PLC amounting to KD 1,316 thousand from the First Instance Civil 
Court of Maldives citing breach of contract based on a civil case filed by a third party. Ooredoo Maldives 
PLC has appealed against this claim in the High Court of Maldives in January 2019. Management 
believes that the prospects of this claim being resolved in the Group’s favor are good.

F.   �A part of the regulatory tariff levied on mobile telecommunication operators in Kuwait by the Ministry 
of Communications since 26 July 2011 was invalidated by the Kuwait Court of Cassation in April 2017. 
Accordingly, the Group has contingent assets in the form of recovery of excess regulatory tariff paid. 
The Group is currently estimating the recoverable amount which is subject to approval of the judicial 
authorities.
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25.  Financial instruments and risk management 

        �The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency 
risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

        �Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury) under policies 
approved by the Board of Directors. Group treasury identifies and evaluates financial risks in close 
co-operation with the Group’s operating units. 

        �The Board of Directors provide written principles for overall risk management, and specifically 
to cover areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of  non-derivative 
financial instrument, and investment of excess liquidity.

        �Market risk

        �Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

        �The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates, interest rates and equity prices.

        �i.   Foreign currency exchange risk 

            �Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates internationally and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the  
US Dollar, MVR Rufiyaa, Tunisian Dinars, Algerian Dinars, UAE Dirham, EURO and GBP. 

            �The Group manages the foreign currency exchange risk by diversifying its exposure to different 
currency rates. The Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign 
currencies:

Net exposure impacting net profit Net exposure impacting equity

2019 2018 2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Equivalent Equivalent Equivalent Equivalent

US Dollar  (7,308) (40,099) (15,054) (17,137)

MVR Rufiyaa  -   -  10,215 27,186

Tunisian Dinar  -   - (50,263) (43,666)

Algerian Dinar  -   -   (124,974) (72,441)

UAE Dirham  (8) - (1,961) (6,380)

EURO   9,332 8,027  -   -

GBP  -   (12)  -   -
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25.  Financial instruments and risk management (Continued)

       Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

       �The Group is maintaining exposure mainly to the US Dollar, MVR Rufiyaa, Tunisian Dinar, Algerian 
Dinar, UAE Dirham, EURO and GBP. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% 
increase in the KD against the other currencies (as a result of a change in the foreign currency) 
at the year-end due to the assumed change in market rates, with all other variable held constant. 
A 10 % decrease in the KD against these currencies would have the opposite effect. A positive 
number indicates increase in equity and a negative number indicates decrease in equity.

Impact on net profit Impact on equity

2019 2018 2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

US Dollar 731 4,010 1,505 1,714

MVR Rufiyaa  -   -  (1,021) (2,719)

Tunisian Dinar  -   - 5,026 4,367

Algerian Dinar  -   -   12,497  7,244

UAE Dirham  1 - 196 638

EURO  (933) (803)  -   -

GBP  -   1  -   -

       �ii.   Interest rate risk management

       �Interest rate risk is the risk arising from possible changes in financial instruments that may affect 
future profitability of the Group.

       �The Group’s interest rate risk arises from term borrowings which are detailed in note 14. Borrowings 
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by 
cash deposits held at variable rates.

       �The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit as well as equity to a reasonably possible 
change in interest rates of 1% (2018: 1%). The calculations are based on the Group’s financial 
instruments held at each reporting date. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit 
and a negative number indicates a decrease in profit.

Increase 2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Impact on profit +1 (988) (863) 

       �Sensitivity to interest rate movements will be on a symmetric basis.

       �iii.   Equity price risk

       �Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
the level of equity indices or the value of individual share prices. Equity price risk arises from 
the change in fair values of listed equity investments. The Group manages the risk through 
diversification of investments in terms of industry concentration. The effect of equity price risk 
on profit for the year of the Group is not significant.
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25.  Financial instruments and risk management (Continued)

       �Credit risk management

       �Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with 
creditworthy counterparties. The Group’s exposure is continuously monitored and the aggregate 
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. 

       �Trade and billing receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse 
industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial 
condition of trade receivables.

       �The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 
group of counterparties having similar characteristics.

       �i   Exposure to credit risk

       �The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum 
exposure (gross) to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying amount

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Contract assets 6,280 5,745

Trade and other receivables 127,048 120,965

Bank balances  88,317 88,346

221,645 215,056

       �The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date by geographic 
region was:

Carrying amount

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Kuwait 99,430 100,892

Tunisia  55,621 32,264

Algeria   27,447  31,245

Maldives  27,737 37,553

Palestine  10,925 13,092

Others  485 10

221,645 215,056

       �The Group’s credit risk bearing assets analysed by the industry sector are as follows:

2019 2018

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Banks and other financial institutions  88,317 88,346

Others 133,328 126,710

Total 221,645 215,056
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25.  Financial instruments and risk management (Continued)

       Credit quality of financial assets

       �The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by 
reference to historical information about counterparty default rates.

       �The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is charged on the overdue trade and billing 
receivables. 

       �The table below shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of financial assets by grade.

31 December 2019

Rated 12-month or 
Lifetime ECL

Gross
carrying 
amount

Impairment  
allowance

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Bank balances Rated 12 month ECL  88,338  (21)

Trade and other receivables Not Rated
Lifetime ECL - 

Simplified approach  213,669
 

(86,621)

Contract assets Not Rated
Lifetime ECL - 

Simplified approach  6,639  (359)

       �All the above financial assets are classified as “financial assets at AC”.

       �Liquidity risk management

       �Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

       �Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has 
built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s 
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group 
manages liquidity risk by 

       �maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities.

       �Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the Group and aggregated by 
Group finance department. Group treasury department monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s 
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining 
sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group 
does not breach borrowing limits on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into 
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans, compliance with internal financial position ratio 
targets and external regulatory or legal requirements.         

       �Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above balance required for working capital 
management are transferred to the Group treasury. Group treasury invests surplus cash in 
interest bearing current accounts and time deposits, choosing instruments with appropriate 
maturities or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient head-room as determined by the above-
mentioned forecasts.
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25.  Financial instruments and risk management (Continued)

        �At the reporting date, the Group held short term deposits of KD 22,046 thousand (2018: KD 
19,677 thousand) and other liquid assets of KD 165,455 thousand (2018: KD 178,492 thousand) 
that are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk. The following 
tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the discounted cash flows of financial liabilities as the impact of 
discounting is not material.

2019 Less than 
1 year

Between
1 and

2 years

Between
2 and 

5 years

Over 5 
years Total

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s %
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 273,440  -    -   - 273,440
Lease liabilities 21,751  40,756  40,756 54,963  158,226
Long term debt  82,848  13,380  17,569 -  113,797 5.6%
Other non-current liabilities  -    1,887  13,593 -  15,480 

378,039  56,023 71,918 54,963 560,943
Commitments and 
contingencies
Acquisition of property
and equipment 16,378 21,456 6,540 -   44,374  
Acquisition of 
Palestinian mobile license  -    -    -   51,236   51,236
Letters of credit and 
guarantee  11,571  312  312 -  12,195 

 27,949  21,768   6,852  51,236 107,805

2018 Less than 
1 year

Between
1 and

2 years

Between
2 and 

5 years

Over 5 
years Total

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s %
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 275,122 - - - 275,122

Long term debt 99,597 15,888 20,111 2,327 137,923 5.3%

Other non-current liabilities - 2,561 13,616 - 16,177

374,719 18,449 33,727 2,327 429,222

Commitments and 
contingencies
Acquisition of property
 and equipment 20,387 26,708 8,141 - 55,236

Acquisition of 
Palestinian mobile license - - - 51,322 51,322

Operating leases 9,222 8,250 25,176 954 43,602

Letters of credit and 
guarantee 13,837 989 989 - 15,815

43,446 35,947 34,306 52,276 165,975
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26.  Operational risk

        �Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, human 
error, systems failure or from external events. The Group has a set of policies and procedures, 
which are approved by the board of directors and are applied to identify, assess and supervise 
operational risk. The Group’s management ensures compliance with policies and procedures 
and monitors operational risk as part of overall risk management.

27.  Fair value of financial instruments

        �Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

        �The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices 
at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the 
current bid price.

        �The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by 
using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that 
are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date.

2019
Level 1 Level 2 Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Investment securities
Unlisted equity securities - 2,088 2,088

- 2,088 2,088

2018

Level 1 Level 2 Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Investment securities
Unlisted equity securities - 2,653 2,653

- 2,653 2,653

    

    �There were no transfers between levels during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 
2018.

28.  Capital risk management

        �The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors 
monitors the Group performance in relation to its long range business plan and its long-term 
profitability objectives.

        �The Group’s objectives for managing capital are:

        �·   �To safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

        �·   �To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurate 
with the level of risk.

29.  Comparative Figures
       �Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year classification with 

no effect on net profit or equity.
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